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Non-traditional locations
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Franchise Fee. 

Development Fee. 

Non-traditional locations
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Opening Inventory.
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NCR/Aloha

NCR Menulink/NBO

MonkeyMedia

www.pcisecuritystandards.org
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Off-Premises Programs. 
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Co-Branded Locations, Non-traditional Outlets, Alternative Channels of Distribution, and 
Competitive Brands
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1. In the Item 17 Tables, the following sentence is added to item ”d”:  

2.   In the Item 17 Tables, the following sentence is added to item ”j”: 

3.   In the Item 17 Tables, the following sentence is added to item ”w”: 
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C O N S O L I D A T E D F I N A N C I A L S T A T E M E N T S

Caribou Coffee Company, Inc. and Subsidiaries 
(A Majority-Owned Subsidiary of Caribou Coffee Holdings, LLC) 
As of December 27, 2022 and December 28, 2021; and for the Fiscal Years 
Ended December 27, 2022, December 28, 2021 and December 29, 2020 
With Report of Independent  Public Account  

Bruegger's - 2023 FDD (266)



Caribou Coffee Company, Inc. and Subsidiaries 

Consolidated Financial Statements 

As of December 27, 2022 and December 28, 2021;  
and for the Fiscal Years Ended December 27, 2022, December 28, 2021, and December 29, 2020 

Contents 

Report of Independent  Public Account ... .........................................................1 

Consolidated Financial Statements 

Consolidated Balance Sheets ...........................................................................................................3 
Consolidated Statements of Operations ...........................................................................................4 
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss) ...........................................................5 
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity ........................................................6 
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows ..........................................................................................7 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements....................................................................................8 

Bruegger's - 2023 FDD (267)



 

 

 

 

 

GT.COM Grant Thornton LLP is the U.S. member firm of Grant Thornton International Ltd (GTIL). GTIL and each of its member firms 
are separate legal entities and are not a worldwide partnership.     

Board of Directors and Shareholders 
Caribou Coffee Company, Inc. 

Opinion 
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Caribou Coffee Company, 
Inc. and subsidiaries (the “Company”), which comprise the consolidated balance 
sheets as of December 27, 2022 and December 28, 2021, and the related 
consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss), changes in 
stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the periods ended 
December 27, 2022, December 28, 2021, and December 29, 2020, and the related 
notes to the financial statements. 

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in 
all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 27, 2022 
and December 28, 2021, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the 
years then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the 
United States of America. 

Basis for opinion 
We conducted our audits of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with 
auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America (US GAAS). 
Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s 
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are 
required to be independent of the Company and to meet our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our 
audits. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion. 

Responsibilities of management for the financial statements 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the 
consolidated financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America, and for the design, implementation, and 
maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of 
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is required to 
evaluate whether there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that 
raise substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern for 
one year after the date the financial statements are available to be issued. 

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS 
 

 

GRANT THORNTON LLP 
1801 California St., Suite 3700 
Denver, CO 80202-2642 
 
D +1 303 813 4000 
F +1 303 839 5711 
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated 
financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and therefore is 
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with US GAAS will always 
detect a material misstatement when it exists. The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud 
may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
override of internal control. Misstatements are considered material if there is a 
substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the 
judgment made by a reasonable user based on the consolidated financial statements. 

In performing an audit in accordance with US GAAS, we: 

 Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout 
the audit. 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated 
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, and design and perform audit 
procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include examining, on a 
test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements. 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design 
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal 
control. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed. 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as 
well as evaluate the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. 

 Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in 
the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern for a reasonable period of time. 

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, 
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit 
findings, and certain internal control-related matters that we identified during the audit. 

 

Denver, Colorado 
March 29, 2023 
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December 27, December 28,
2022 2021

ASSETS
Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents 94,524$     100,238$      
Trade accounts receivable, net 26,077  25,027     
Other accounts receivable 709    715    
Inventories 25,001  21,719  
Prepaid expenses and other assets 4,781    3,444    

Total current assets 151,092   151,143   

Operating lease assets 224,891   212,635   
Property and equipment, net 134,321   129,981   

Other assets:
Goodwill 384,813   384,813   
Trademarks, net 457,500   457,500   
Other intangible assets, net 10,825  15,224  
Deposit and other 9,546    18,403  

Total other assets 862,684   875,940   
Total assets 1,372,988$     1,369,699$     

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities:

Accounts payable 84,229$     73,625$     
Accrued expenses 73,020  84,294     
Current operating lease liabilities 55,752  56,312     
Current portion of long-term debt 3,831    400,777   

Total current liabilities 216,832   615,008   

Long-term debt, net of unamortized discount 334,461   -    
Deferred income taxes, net 100,821   101,694   
Long-term operating lease liabilities 198,990   186,737   
Other long-term liabilities 4,174    6,914 

Total long-term liabilities 638,446   295,345   
Commitments and contingencies
Noncontrolling interests subject to put provisions 58,552     27,144     

Shareholders’ equity:
Caribou Coffee Company, Inc. and Subsidiaries shareholders'
   Common stock, par value $0.01; 28,000,000 shares authorized;

21,125,385 and 21,125,385 shares issued and outstanding at December 27, 2022 and 
December 28, 2021, respectively 211    211    

Additional paid-in capital 311,872   336,689   
Accumulated other comprehensive income, net of income tax -    (3,462)  
Retained earnings 144,162   95,478     

Total shareholders' equity before non-controlling interest 456,245   428,916   
Noncontrolling interest 2,913    3,286    

Total shareholders' equity 459,158   432,202   
   Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity 1,372,988$     1,369,699$     

CARIBOU COFFEE COMPANY, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(in thousands (except share information))
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December 27, 2022 December 28, 2021 December 29, 2020
Coffeehouse and bagel bakery sales 792,112$     709,744$     599,983$     
Franchise royalties and fees 23,426   20,000   16,975   
Franchise advertising sales 4,017     3,524     2,519     
Franchise and commercial product sales 150,136   124,196   116,418   
Net sales 969,691   857,464   735,895   

Cost of goods sold 203,878   173,808   146,597   
Labor 240,207   221,362   198,536   
Occupancy 83,686   80,742   89,687   
Other operating expenses 113,309   101,794   88,922   
Total coffeehouse and bagel bakery expense 641,080   577,706   523,742   

Franchise operations and other expenses 2,307     2,357     2,284     
Ad fund expense franchise 4,017     3,524     2,519     
Franchise and commercial product cost of goods sold 116,077   94,319   84,296   
Depreciation and amortization 40,926   41,502   49,795   
General and administrative expenses 85,453   71,892   73,216   
Pre-opening expenses 2,830     1,109     804   
Total costs and expenses 892,690   792,409   736,656   

Operating income (loss) 77,001   65,055   (761)   

Interest expense, net 18,100   17,831   19,163   
Other (income) expense -    (1,029)   -    
Pre-tax income (loss) 58,901   48,253   (19,924)   
Income tax expense (benefit) 8,686     10,741   (2,826)   
Net income (loss) 50,215$     37,512$     (17,098)$      
Less net income (loss) attributable to noncontrolling interest 1,531     1,480     (536)   
Net income (loss) attributable to Caribou Coffee Company, Inc. and Affiliates 48,684$     36,032$     (16,562)$      

Refer to the accompanying notes as an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

CARIBOU COFFEE COMPANY, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

(in thousands)

Fiscal Year Ended

Bruegger's - 2023 FDD (271)



December 27, 2022 December 28, 2021 December 29, 2020

Net income (loss) 50,215$    37,512$     (17,098)$     
Other comprehensive income (loss)

Unrealized gain (loss) on cash flow hedges, net of tax expense of $283, tax benefit of $190, and and tax 
expense of $2,476 for the fiscal years ended December 27, 2022, December 28, 2021 and December 29, 
2020, respectively 817   399    (7,071)    
Reclassification of loss on cash flow hedge, net of tax benefit of $825, $1,937, and $1,599 for the fiscal 
years ended December 27, 2022, December 28, 2021 and December 29, 2020, respectively 2,375  5,579   4,606   
Settlement of PNC derivative securities and novation of BNP and Rabo derivative securities 475   –   –   

Comprehensive income (loss) attributable to Caribou Coffee Company, Inc. and Subsidiaries    53,882   43,490   (19,563)
Less net comprehensive income (loss) attributable to noncontrolling interest    1,531    1,480  (536)    
Comprehensive income (loss) attributable to Caribou Coffee Company, Inc. and Subsidiaries  $      52,351  $     42,010  $     (19,027)

Refer to the accompanying notes as an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

CARIBOU COFFEE COMPANY, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)

(in thousands)

Fiscal Year Ended
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Non-controlling Accumulated
interests Additional Other

subject to put Paid In Noncontrolling Comprehensive Retained 
provisions Shares Amount Capital Interest Loss Earnings Total

Balance, December 31, 2019 37,094$  20,886,412         209$  327,463$        2,791$  (6,949)$          76,008$          436,616$           

   Net loss (156) - - - (380) - (16,562) (17,098) 
Adjustments required under tax sharing 
      agreement - - - 171 - - - 171 

   Stock based compensation expense 4,026 - - - - - - 4,026 
   Accrued interest on shareholder note receivable (107) - - - - - - (107) 
   Unrealized loss on derivative securities, net of income tax (66) - - - - (7,005)            - (7,071) 
   Reclassification of loss on cash flow hedge, net of tax benefit 43 - - - - 4,563 - 4,606 
   Distribution of non-controlling interest - - - - (31) - - (31) 

Changes in noncontrolling interest from:
Distributions (repurchases), including 
   repayments on shareholder notes receivable (18,175) - - 803 - - - (17,372) 
Contributions (share issuances), net of shareholder notes 
receivable 6,164 - - - - - - 6,164
Fair value remeasurements (330) - - 330 - - - - 

Balance, December 29, 2020 28,493$  20,886,412         209$  328,767$        2,380$  (9,391)$          59,446$          409,904$           
   Net income 302 - - - 1,178 - 36,032 37,512 

Adjustments required under tax sharing 
      agreement - - - 2,468 - - - 2,468 

   Stock based compensation expense 3,656 - - - - - - 3,656 
   Accrued interest on shareholder note receivable (100) - - - - - - (100) 
   Unrealized gain on derivative securities, net of income tax 4 - - - - 395 - 399 
   Reclassification of loss on cash flow hedge, net of tax benefit 45 - - - - 5,534 - 5,579 
   Distribution of non-controlling interest - - - - (272) - - (272) 

Changes in noncontrolling interest from:
Distributions (repurchases), including 
   repayments on shareholder notes receivable (2,198) - - (240) - - - (2,438) 
Contributions (share issuances), net of shareholder notes 
receivable 2,638 - - - - - - 2,638
Rollover and pushdown of Parent shares (7,547) 238,973 2 7,545 - - - - 
Fair value remeasurements 1,851 - - (1,851)            - - - - 

Balance, December 28, 2021 27,144$  21,125,385         211$  336,689$        3,286$  (3,462)$          95,478$          459,346$           
   Net income 759 - - - 772 - 48,684 50,215 

Adjustments required under tax sharing 
      agreement - - - 766 - - - 766 

   Stock based compensation expense 7,465 - - - - - - 7,465 
   Accrued interest on shareholder note receivable (43) - - - - - - (43) 
   Unrealized gain on derivative securities, net of income tax 12 - - - - 805 - 817 
   Reclassification of loss on cash flow hedge, net of tax benefit 35 - - - - 2,340 - 2,375 

Settlement of PNC derivative securities and novation of BNP and 
Rabo derivative securities 158 - - 355 - 317 - 830

   Distribution of non-controlling interest - - - - (1,145) - - (1,145) 
Changes in noncontrolling interest from:

Distributions (repurchases), including 
   repayments on shareholder notes receivable (3,623) - - (324) - - - (3,947) 
Contributions (share issuances), net of shareholder notes 
receivable 1,031 - - - - - - 1,031
Fair value remeasurements 25,614 - - (25,614)          - - - - 

Balance, December 27, 2022 58,552$  21,125,385         211$  311,872$        2,913$  -$  144,162$        517,710$           

Refer to the accompanying notes as an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

CARIBOU COFFEE COMPANY, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

(in thousands, except share information)

Common Stock
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December 27, 
2022

December 28, 
2021

December 29, 
2020

OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Net income (loss) 50,215$  37,512$  (17,098)$            
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by
 operating activities:
  Depreciation and amortization 40,086 40,509 45,374 
  Amortization of deferred financing fees 1,552 1,797 967 
  Stock-based compensation 7,465 3,656 4,026 
  Deferred income taxes 8,736 6,371 (3,964)
  Impairment of restaurant assets 840 993 2,111 
  Right of use asset impairment charges 2,029 824 2,310 
  Losses on disposal of assets 1,113 1,398 4,992 
  Provision for (benefit from) losses on accounts receivable 38 (1,224) 1,407 
  Other 2,197 1,932 160 
  Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
    Trade and other accounts receivable, net 1,829 (1,247) 408 
    Inventories (3,282) (2,124) 2,095 
    Prepaid expenses and other (1,166) (2,269) 1,223 
    Deposits and other (125) 4,005 1,892 
    Accounts payable 10,599 15,287 (7,770)
    Accrued expenses (6,543) 6,328 3,938 
    Operating lease assets and lease liabilities (7,743) (15,893) 16,567 
    Other long-term liabilities (2,740) (6,073) (974) 

Net cash provided by operating activities 105,100 91,782 57,664 
INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Payments for property and equipment (41,196) (28,802) (20,807)
Proceeds from disposal of property and equipment 13 14 4 
Notes receivable - - 1,600 

Net cash used in investing activities (41,183) (28,788) (19,203)

FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Distribution of noncontrolling interest (1,145) (272) (31) 
Issuances of noncontrolling interests subject to put provisions 1,031 2,450 801 
Repurchases of noncontrolling interests subject to put provisions (4,447) (1,159) (489)
Proceeds on line of credit 313,000 - 78,000 
Repayments on line of credit (373,000)            (21,000) (55,000)
Settlement of shareholder promissory notes - (12,703) -
Settlement of cash flow hedge liability (262) - -
Proceeds from term loan 86,875 - -
Term loan repayments (89,375) (5,000) (2,500) 
Proceeds from Payment Protection Program - 596 426 
Payment of debt financing fees (2,308) (1,205) (1,220) 

Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities (69,631) (38,293) 19,987 

Net increase in cash, cash equivalents & restricted cash (5,714) 24,701 58,448 
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, beginning of period 100,238 75,537 17,089 
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, end of period 94,524$  100,238$            75,537$  

Refer to the accompanying notes as an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

 Fiscal Year Ended 

CARIBOU COFFEE COMPANY, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(in thousands)
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Caribou Coffee Company, Inc. and Subsidiaries 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

As of December 27, 2022 and December 28, 2021; and for the 
Fiscal Years Ended December 27, 2022, December 28, 2021 and December 29, 2020 

1. Business and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Description of Business 

Caribou Coffee Company, Inc. (the Company or CCCI) is the parent company of certain 
consolidated subsidiaries that comprise its two business units namely, the Coffee business unit and 
the Bagel Brands business unit. The Coffee business unit (or Caribou), including Caribou Coffee 
Operating Company (CCOC), Caribou Coffee Development Company, Inc. and Caribou MSP 
Airport, operate, franchise and license Caribou Coffee branded retail coffeehouses. These 
subsidiaries sell high-quality premium coffee and espresso-based beverages, foods, and coffee 
lifestyle items. Caribou also sells its high-quality premium coffee through grocery, foodservice, 
and office coffee service distribution channels. The Bagel Brands business unit (ENRGI), 
including Einstein Noah Restaurant Group, Inc. and its subsidiary, Bruegger’s Enterprises, Inc. 
(BEI), operate franchise and license specialty bagel bakeries in the United States under the Einstein 
Bros. Bagels (Einstein Bros.), Noah’s New York Bagels (Noah’s), Manhattan Bagel Company 
(Manhattan Bagel), and Bruegger’s Bagels brands. Bagel Brands also sells its high quality bagels 
through grocery, club and foodservice distribution channels. 

The Company is a majority–owned subsidiary of Caribou Coffee Holdings, LLC (a Delaware 
limited liability company), which is an indirect wholly–owned subsidiary of Panera Brands, Inc. 
(a Delaware corporation).  

As of December 27, 2022, Caribou operated 339 company-owned retail coffeehouses and 
franchised/licensed 432 locations across 19 states. Of the 432 franchised/licensed locations, 287 
operate internationally, primarily in the Middle East. ENRGI operated 513 company-owned retail 
bagel bakeries and franchised/licensed 490 locations across 45 states.  

Principles of Consolidation 

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its majority owned 
subsidiaries, CCOC and ENRGI. CCOC consolidates Caribou MSP Airport, a partnership in which 
CCOC owns a 49% interest and operates six coffeehouses at the Minneapolis/St. Paul International 
Airport. CCOC provided a loan to its partner in Caribou MSP Airport for all of the partner’s equity 
contribution to the venture. Consequently, CCOC bears all the risk of loss but does not control all 
decisions that may have a significant effect on the success of the venture. Therefore, CCOC 
consolidates the Caribou MSP Airport, as it is the primary beneficiary in this variable interest 
entity. All material intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. 
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1. Business and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

Noncontrolling Interest 

Noncontrolling interests subject to put provisions in the Company’s consolidated financial 
statements includes a 0.17% interest in CCCI, a 1.0% interest in CCOC, and a 1.47% interest in 
ENRGI as of December 27, 2022. The Company consolidates the financial results of CCOC and 
ENRGI. The noncontrolling owner’s share of net assets and results of operations are deducted and 
reported as a noncontrolling interest on the consolidated balance sheets and as net income 
attributable to noncontrolling interest in the consolidated statements of operations. 

Noncontrolling interest in the Company’s consolidated financial statements represents the 51% 
interest in Caribou MSP Airport. Since the Company consolidates the financial statements of 
Caribou MSP Airport, the noncontrolling owner’s share of Caribou MSP Airport’s net assets and 
results of operations are deducted and reported as a noncontrolling interest on the consolidated 
balance sheets and as net income attributable to noncontrolling interest in the consolidated 
statements of operations. 

Fiscal Year End 

Prior to December 30, 2021, the Company’s fiscal year ended on the Tuesday closest to 
December 31, with the three most recent fiscal years consisting of 52 weeks ending on December 
27, 2022, December 28, 2021, and December 29, 2020. Beginning with the fiscal year ending 
December 27, 2022, the Company’s fiscal year ends on the last Tuesday in December, consistent 
with Panera Bread, a reportable segment of Panera Brands, Inc.  

Use of Estimates 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America (U.S. GAAP) requires management to make estimates 
and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the accompanying consolidated financial 
statements. Actual results may differ from those estimates, and such differences may be material 
to the consolidated financial statements. 

Cash and Cash Equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents include all highly liquid investments with a maturity of three months or 
less when purchased. All credit and debit card transactions that process in less than seven days are 
classified as cash and cash equivalents. The amounts due from banks for these credit and debit 
card transactions classified as cash total $2.5 million and $2.1 million as of December 27, 2022 
and December 28, 2021, respectively.  
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1. Business and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

Restricted Cash 

The Company’s restricted cash consists of franchisee paid funds which are earmarked as 
advertising fund contributions. Restricted cash of $3.5 million and $2.8 million as of December 
27, 2022 and December 28, 2021, respectively, is included in cash and cash equivalents on the 
Company’s consolidated balance sheets.  

Concentrations of Risk 

The Company maintains cash and cash equivalent balances with financial institutions that exceed 
federally insured limits.  The Company has not experienced any losses related to these balances, 
and management believes its credit risk to be minimal. 

Fair Value Measurements 

The fair value measurement accounting standard provides a framework for measuring fair value 
and defines fair value as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a 
liability. Fair value is a market-based measurement that should be determined using assumptions 
that market participants would use in pricing an asset or liability. The standard establishes a 
valuation hierarchy for inputs used in measuring fair value that maximizes the use of observable 
inputs and minimizes the use of unobservable inputs by requiring that the most observable inputs 
be used when available. Observable inputs are inputs market participants would use in valuing the 
asset or liability developed based on independent market data sources. Unobservable inputs are 
inputs that reflect the Company’s assumptions about the factors market participants would use in 
valuing the asset or liability developed based upon the best information available. 

The valuation hierarchy is composed of three categories. The categorization within the valuation 
hierarchy is based on the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value measurement. 
The categories within the valuation hierarchy are described as follows: 

Level 1: Observable inputs that reflect unadjusted quoted prices for identical assets or 
liabilities traded in active markets. 

Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the 
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly. 

Level 3: Inputs that are generally unobservable. These inputs may be used with internally 
developed methodologies that result in management’s best estimate of fair value. 
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1. Business and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

Fair Value of Financial Instruments 

The Company’s financial instruments typically consist of cash and cash equivalents, restricted 
cash, accounts receivable, accounts payable, note receivable, interest rate swap derivatives and 
debt.  The fair values of accounts receivable and accounts payable approximate their carrying 
values, due to their short-term nature. The fair value of the Company’s long-term debt 
approximates carrying value because the applicable interest rates are variable and reflect current 
market rates. Refer to Note 5 for more information on the fair value of interest rate swap 
derivatives. 

Trade Accounts Receivable, Net and Other Accounts Receivable 

Trade accounts receivable, net consists primarily of amounts due to the Company from its 
franchisees and licensees for purchases of products from the Company, royalties due to the 
Company from franchisee and licensee sales, information technology services provided to 
franchisees, and receivables from credit card and catering on-account sales.  

As of December 27, 2022, other accounts receivable consisted primarily of $0.3 million foreign 
tax receivable, and $0.4 million of sublease income receivable from subtenants.  As of 
December 28, 2021, other accounts receivable consisted primarily of $0.3 million of sublease 
income receivable from subtenants and a $0.2 million foreign tax receivable. 

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts 

The Company determines an allowance for doubtful accounts by considering a number of factors, 
including the length of time the account is past due, previous losses, payment history and condition 
of the economy and industry as a whole. A summary of the allowance for doubtful accounts is as 
follows (in thousands): 

Fiscal Year Ended
Beginning 
Balance Additions Deductions

Ending 
Balance

December 27, 2022  $              286  $           317  $         (279)  $       324 
December 28, 2021  $           1,510  $           534  $      (1,758)  $       286  

  

Bruegger's - 2023 FDD (278)



Caribou Coffee Company, Inc. and Subsidiaries 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 

As of December 27, 2022 and December 28, 2021; and for the 
Fiscal Years Ended December 27, 2022, December 28, 2021, and December 29, 2020 

12 

1. Business and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

Inventories 

Raw materials consist primarily of green coffee beans and bagel ingredients. Finished goods 
include roasted coffee, tea, bagels, packaged foods, and accessory products and supplies. Caribou 
inventories are stated at the lower of weighted average cost or net realizable value while ENRGI 
inventories are stated at the lower of first-in, first-out cost or net realizable value.  

Property and Equipment 

Property and equipment are stated on the basis of cost less accumulated depreciation. Depreciation 
of property and equipment is computed using the straight-line method over the assets’ estimated 
useful lives of one to twenty years. Leasehold improvements are amortized using the straight-line 
method over the shorter of their estimated useful lives or the related initial non-cancelable lease 
term, excluding renewal option terms, which is generally five to ten years, unless it is reasonably 
assured that the renewal option term is going to be exercised. 

Capitalization of Internal Construction Costs 

The Company capitalizes direct costs associated with the construction of new coffeehouses and 
bagel bakeries that would not have been incurred had the site-specific lease not been obtained. The 
Company capitalized $0.7 million, $0.4 million, and $0.2 million of such costs during the fiscal 
years ended December 27, 2022, December 28, 2021, and December 29, 2020, respectively. These 
costs are amortized over the initial lease term of the underlying leases. 

Asset Retirement Obligations 

The Company has certain asset retirement obligations, primarily associated with leasehold 
improvements, whereby at the end of a lease, the Company is contractually obligated to remove 
such leasehold improvements in order to comply with the lease agreement. At the inception of a 
lease with such conditions, the Company records an asset retirement obligation liability and a 
corresponding capital asset in an amount equal to the estimated fair value of the obligation. The 
liability is estimated based on a number of assumptions requiring management’s judgment, 
including store closing costs and discount rates, and is accreted to its projected future value over 
time. The capitalized asset is depreciated using the estimated useful life for depreciation of 
leasehold improvement assets. Upon satisfaction of the asset retirement obligation conditions, any 
difference between the recorded asset retirement obligation liability and the actual retirement costs 
incurred is recognized as an operating gain or loss in the Company’s financial statements in the 
period incurred. There were no net operating gains recorded for the fiscal years ended December 
27, 2022 and December 28, 2021, and December 29, 2020, respectively. 
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1. Business and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

Asset Retirement Obligations (continued) 

Total asset retirement obligation expense was less than $0.1 million for each of the fiscal years 
ended December 27, 2022, December 28, 2021, and December 29, 2020, and is included in costs 
of sales and related occupancy costs and depreciation and amortization. As of December 27, 2022 
and December 28, 2021, the Company’s net asset retirement obligation asset included in property, 
plant and equipment, net of accumulated depreciation and amortization was less than $0.1 million 
for each fiscal year, while the Company’s net asset retirement obligation liability was equal to 
$0.3 million for each of the fiscal years ended December 27, 2022 and December 28, 2021. 

Operating Leases and Rent Expense 

The Company leases all coffeehouse and bagel bakery locations as well as its corporate office 
spaces under operating leases.  The Company also has equipment leases that qualify as operating 
leases. The Company determines if an arrangement is a lease at inception. The Company has lease 
agreements with lease and non-lease components, which are generally accounted for separately.  

Right of use assets represent the Company’s right to use an underlying asset for the lease term and 
lease obligations represent the Company’s obligation to make lease payments arising from the 
lease. The Company includes short-term leases, or leases with a term of twelve months or less, in 
its right of use asset and lease liability calculations. Operating leases are included in right of use 
assets, current portion of lease liabilities, and lease liabilities on the Company’s consolidated 
balance sheets. Operating right of use lease assets and obligations are recognized at the 
commencement date, which is the date we take possession of the property, based on the present 
value of lease payments over the lease term. As most of the Company’s leases do not provide an 
implicit rate, the Company uses its incremental borrowing rate based on the estimated rate of 
interest for collateralized borrowing over a similar term of the lease payments at the 
commencement date in determining the present value of lease payments. The right of use asset 
also includes any lease payments made less upfront lease incentives received from the lessor.  

The Company’s lease terms generally include rent escalation clauses and options to extend or 
terminate the lease upon exercise of the lease option. Lease expense for lease payments is 
recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Additionally, tenant allowances used to 
fund leasehold improvements are recognized when earned and reduce our right of use asset related 
to the lease. These are amortized through the operating lease asset as reductions of expense over 
the lease term.  Refer to Note 9 for more information on leases. 
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1. Business and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

Deferred Financing Fees 

The Company capitalizes the costs incurred to issue debt. These costs are included as a component 
of Current portion of long-term debt and Long-term debt, net of unamortized discount on the 
Company’s consolidated balance sheets as of December 27, 2022 and December 28, 2021, 
respectively. The costs are being amortized over the life of the debt agreement on a straight-line 
basis, which approximates the effective interest method.  

Goodwill 

The Company had gross goodwill of $384.8 million as of December 27, 2022 and December 28, 
2021. Goodwill represents the excess of the acquisition costs over estimated fair value of assets 
acquired, less liabilities assumed.  No additional goodwill was recognized for the fiscal years 
ended December 27, 2022 and December 28, 2021. 

The Company tests goodwill for impairment annually or upon the occurrence of events that may 
indicate possible impairment. When assessing the recoverability of goodwill, the Company may 
first perform an assessment of qualitative factors.  We may elect to skip the qualitative assessment 
and proceed directly to the quantitative analysis, for any reporting unit, in any period.  If we do 
not perform a qualitative assessment, or if we determine it is not more-likely-than-not that the fair 
value of the reporting unit exceeds its carrying amount, the Company assesses goodwill for 
impairment through a quantitative analysis, utilizing a discounted cash flow approach, which 
incorporates assumptions regarding future growth rates, terminal values, and discount rates. This 
process compares the estimated fair value of each reporting unit to the reporting unit’s carrying 
value, including goodwill. The Company recognizes a goodwill impairment charge for the amount 
by which the reporting unit’s carrying amount exceeds its fair value. If the fair value of a reporting 
unit exceeds its carrying value, goodwill of the reporting unit is considered not to be impaired.  If 
circumstances change significantly that would indicate a possible impairment, the Company would 
also test a reporting unit’s goodwill for impairment at an interim date between its annual tests.  

For the fiscal years ended December 27, 2022 and December 28, 2021, the Company elected to 
perform a qualitative assessment for its annual review of goodwill to determine whether or not 
indicators of impairment exist. As a result of the qualitative assessment, no indicators of 
impairment were identified, and no additional indicators of impairment were identified through 
the end of our fiscal year that would require further testing for impairment. 
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1. Business and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

Goodwill (continued) 

Given the deterioration in general economic conditions, deterioration in market environments in 
which the Company operates, and the substantial reduction in our revenues and cash flows during 
2020 as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, the Company identified triggering events as of March 
31, 2020 that required it to assess the need for potential goodwill impairment charges. The 
Company’s goodwill impairment assessments were not significantly altered as a result of the 
COVID-19 pandemic; management continues to calculate fair value of each of the Company’s 
reporting units in excess of carrying value. The Company then performed a qualitative assessment 
of goodwill as of December 1, 2020, the annual testing date, for the remainder of fiscal year 2020, 
noting that projected revenue and cash flows had improved since the triggering event date.  

There were no goodwill impairment charges for the years ended December 27, 2022, December 
28, 2021, and December 29, 2020.  

Intangible Assets and Liabilities 

Intangible assets primarily represent the tradenames for the Company’s brands, contractual 
customer relationships including franchise, K-cup coffee supply and concession agreements, and 
reacquired franchise rights. All tradenames except for one, Manhattan Bagel, have been assigned 
an indefinite life and are reviewed for impairment annually. All other intangible assets and 
liabilities are amortized on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives.  

For the fiscal years ended December 27, 2022 and December 28, 2021, the Company elected to 
perform a qualitative assessment for its annual review of intangibles to determine whether or not 
indicators of impairment exist. As a result of the qualitative assessment, no indicators of 
impairment were identified, and no additional indicators of impairment were identified through 
the end of our fiscal year that would require further testing for impairment. 

As discussed above, the Company identified triggering events as of March 31, 2020 that required 
it to assess the need for potential intangible asset impairment charges. The Company’s intangible 
asset impairment assessments were not significantly altered as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic; 
management continues to calculate the fair value of each of the Company’s indefinite-lived 
intangible assets in excess of carrying value. The Company did not have any impairment of 
indefinite-lived intangible assets during the fiscal years ended December 27, 2022, December 28, 
2021, and December 29, 2020.  
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1. Business and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

Self-Insurance Reserves 

The Company provides for workers’ compensation, general liability and employee healthcare 
benefits claims using a combination of self-insurance and third party liability insurance.  The 
Company is responsible for a portion of the claims costs for workers’ compensation, general 
liability and employee healthcare benefits and accrues a liability for the estimate of the ultimate 
cost of the claim incurred and unpaid as of the balance sheet date.  The workers’ compensation 
and general liability is based upon an estimate from a third party actuary, while the employee 
healthcare benefits liability is based upon the Company’s analysis of both current and historical 
data.  These liabilities are included in accrued expenses. The Company also maintains stop-loss 
coverage with third party insurers which limits the exposure from workers’ compensation liability, 
general liability and employee healthcare benefits claims. 

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and Disposal of Long-Lived Assets 

The Company reviews long-lived assets, including right of use assets and certain definite-lived 
intangibles, for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying 
amount of an asset may not be recoverable. Recoverability of assets to be held and used is 
measured by a comparison of the carrying amount of an asset to future undiscounted net cash flows 
expected to be generated by the asset. If such assets are considered to be impaired, the impairment 
to be recognized is measured by the amount by which the carrying amount of the assets exceeds 
the fair value of the assets. In accordance with Accounting Standards Codification Topic 
842, Leases, when a right of use asset related to an operating lease is impaired, the Company 
amortizes the remaining right of use asset on a straight-line basis over the remaining lease term, 
as a finance type lease.  

The Company recorded impairment charges of $2.9 million during the fiscal year ended December 
27, 2022, comprised of $0.9 million and $2.0 million of leasehold improvement impairments and 
right of use asset impairments, respectively, which were recorded in depreciation and amortization 
expense and occupancy expense, respectively, in the Company’s consolidated statements of 
operations.   

The Company recorded impairment charges of $1.8 million during the fiscal year ended December 
28, 2021, comprised of $1.0 million and $0.8 million of leasehold improvement impairments and 
right of use asset impairments, respectively, which were recorded in depreciation and amortization 
expense and occupancy expense, respectively, in the Company’s consolidated statements of 
operations.   
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1. Business and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and Disposal of Long-Lived Assets (continued) 

The COVID-19 pandemic, and the resulting temporary and permanent store closures, reduction in 
revenues and reduction in cash flows created a triggering event and the Company completed 
impairment testing as of March 31, 2020. As a result of this testing, the Company recorded store 
impairment charges of $4.4 million during the fiscal year ended December 29, 2020, comprised of 
$2.1 million and $2.3 million of leasehold improvement impairments and right of use asset 
impairments, respectively. The impairment charges were recorded in depreciation and 
amortization expense in the Company’s consolidated statements of operations.   

Assets to be disposed of are reported at the lower of the carrying amount or fair value less costs to 
sell.  

Stock Compensation 

The Company maintains a long-term incentive equity plan, which provides for the granting of non-
qualified stock options and restricted stock to officers, certain key employees and certain non-
employees and generally vest four and a half years from the date of grant. The plan includes 
provisions for the grantee, after the satisfaction of a six month holding period, to sell the vested 
shares to the Company in exchange for the current fair value of the shares.  The Company has the 
option to call outstanding vested shares in exchange for the current fair value of the shares. 
Beginning in fiscal year 2020, CCOC and ENRGI also maintain long-term incentive equity plans 
with terms identical to the Company’s long term incentive plan.  

Restricted stock units are valued based on the grant date fair value of the shares. The fair value of 
the shares is estimated using a market approach, which estimates the value of the stock based upon 
comparison to comparable public companies in a similar line of business. From the comparable 
public companies, a representative market value multiple is determined and then applied to the 
Company’s financial metrics. The estimated grant date fair value of stock options was calculated 
using Black-Scholes option-pricing model.  The estimated grant date fair value of each stock-based 
award is recognized in the consolidated statements of operations on a straight-line basis over the 
requisite service period (generally the vesting period). 
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1. Business and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

Coffeehouse and Bagel Bakery Location Preopening and Closing Expenses 

Costs incurred in connection with start-up and promotion of new coffeehouse and bagel bakery 
openings are expensed as incurred and are included in operating expenses in the consolidated 
statements of operations. The Company incurred $2.8 million, $1.1 million, and $0.8 million of 
coffeehouse and bagel bakery pre-opening expenses during the fiscal years ended December 27, 
2022, December 28, 2021, and December 29, 2020, respectively. When a coffeehouse or bagel 
bakery is closed, the remaining carrying amount of property and equipment, net of expected 
recovery value, is charged to operations. For coffeehouses and bagel bakeries under operating lease 
agreements, the estimated liability under the lease is also accrued. In accordance with ASU 2016-
02, lease termination liabilities are included in the balance of the Company’s right of use assets. 
Refer to Note 19 for more closed store information. 

Revenue Recognition 

Retail Revenue 

The Company recognizes retail coffeehouse/bagel bakery sales for products and services when 
payment is tendered at the point of sale, as the performance obligation has been satisfied. 
Company-operated retail coffeehouse/bagel bakery revenues are reported excluding sales, use or 
other transaction taxes collected from customers, which are remitted to various tax jurisdictions.  
Accordingly, sales taxes have no effect on the Company’s reported net sales in the accompanying 
consolidated statements of operations. 

Product and Royalty Revenue 

Sales of coffee, food, and related products to commercial, franchise or online customers is 
generally recognized upon shipment, depending on contract terms, as control typically transfers 
and performance obligations are typically met upon shipment. Pursuant to Accounting Standards 
Update (ASU) 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606), the Company has 
elected to account for shipping and handling as fulfillment costs. Shipping charges billed to 
commercial, franchise, or online customers are recognized as revenue, and the expense of such 
shipping and handling costs is included in cost of sales, as incurred. ENRGI includes the shipping 
and handling fee in the total product price. The Company recorded shipping revenue of $1.8 
million, $1.5 million, and $1.2 million during the fiscal years ended December 27, 2022, December 
28, 2021, and December 29, 2020, respectively. 
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1. Business and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

Revenue Recognition (continued) 

Product and Royalty Revenue (continued) 

The Company sells Caribou Coffee branded coffee to Peet’s Coffee and Tea, LLC (Peet’s) and 
Keurig Green Mountain, Inc. (KGM), affiliates of Panera Brands, Inc., and recognizes revenue 
when the performance obligation is met, defined in the contract as the passage of title and risk of 
loss to the customer, generally upon shipment of product. Additionally, the Company receives 
royalties from Peet’s and KGM for all Caribou Coffee branded product sold to Peet’s and KGM’s 
consumer package goods (CPG) customers. Royalty revenue is recognized as the performance 
obligations are met and is included in franchise and commercial product sales in the accompanying 
consolidated statements of operations.  

Franchise Revenue 

The Company’s franchise agreements typically require upfront franchise fees such as initial fees 
paid upon opening of a store and fees paid to renew the term of the franchise right. Fees are 
recognized over the term of the related franchise license for the respective coffeehouse or bagel 
bakery on a straight-line basis, which is consistent with the Company’s performance obligations 
under the agreements and the franchisee’s right to use and benefit from the intellectual property. 

Advertising Cooperatives 

The Company participates in various advertising cooperatives with its franchisees. These 
advertising cooperatives are established to collect and administer funds contributed for use in 
advertising and promotional programs designed to increase sales and enhance the reputation of the 
Company and its franchise owners. Contributions to the advertising cooperatives are required for 
franchise coffeehouses or bagel bakeries and Company-owned bagel bakeries within the 
Bruegger’s brand. The cooperatives are required to spend all funds collected on advertising and 
promotional programs. Revenues for these services are typically billed and paid monthly. The 
Company has determined the advertising services provided to franchisees are highly interrelated 
with the franchise right and therefore not a distinct performance obligation. Franchisees remit to 
the Company a percentage of coffeehouse or bagel bakery sales as consideration. As a result, those 
royalties are recognized for the franchise rights and advertising within commercial and franchise 
advertising sales when the related sales occur. 

Total advertising cooperative revenue was $4.0 million, $3.5 million, and $2.5 million for the 
fiscal years ended December 27, 2022, December 28, 2021, and December 29, 2020, respectively. 
Expenses incurred to provide these services were $4.0 million, $3.5 million, and $2.5 million for 
the fiscal years ended December 27, 2022, December 28, 2021, and December 29, 2020, 
respectively. 
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1. Business and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

Revenue Recognition (continued) 

Stored Value Cards 

The Company sells stored value cards of various denominations. Cash receipts related to stored 
value card sales are deferred when initially received and revenue is recognized when the card is 
redeemed and the related products are delivered to the customer. Such amounts are classified as 
current deferred revenue on the Company’s consolidated balance sheets.  

The Company will honor all stored value cards presented for payment; however, the Company has 
determined that the likelihood of redemption is remote for certain card balances due to long periods 
of inactivity and historical redemption patterns. To the extent management determines there is no 
requirement for remitting balances to government agencies under unclaimed property laws, card 
balances may be recognized in the consolidated statements of operations. The Company uses the 
proportional model and recognizes the estimated value of abandoned cards as a percentage of every 
stored value card redeemed and includes the amount in coffeehouse and bagel bakery sales. Gift 
card breakage income of $3.3 million, $4.2 million, and $2.9 million was recognized in 
coffeehouse and bagel bakery sales in the consolidated statements of operations for the fiscal years 
ended December 27, 2022, December 28, 2021, and December 29, 2020, respectively. 

All revenue is recognized net of any discounts, returns, allowances, and sales incentives, including 
coupon redemptions and rebates. 

Advertising 

Advertising costs are expensed as incurred except for production costs related to major radio, 
television or media campaigns which are expensed in the period when the advertisement is initially 
aired/distributed. Advertising expenses aggregated approximately $29.5 million, $22.9 million, 
and $16.6 million for the fiscal years ended December 27, 2022, December 28, 2021, and 
December 29, 2020, respectively. As of December 27, 2022 and December 28, 2021, the Company 
had $0.4 million and $0.4 million of prepaid advertising expenses, respectively, which are included 
as a component of prepaid expenses on the Company’s consolidated balance sheets.   
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1. Business and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

Income Taxes 

The Company accounts for income taxes under the liability method. Under this method, deferred 
income tax assets and liabilities are determined based on differences between the financial 
reporting and tax basis of assets and liabilities and are measured using the enacted tax rates and 
laws that will be in effect when the differences are expected to reverse. A deferred tax asset or 
liability is recognized whenever there are future tax effects from existing temporary differences, 
operating losses and tax credit carryforwards.  If the Company determines that a deferred tax asset 
could be realized in a greater or lesser amount than recorded, the asset’s recorded amount is 
adjusted, and the consolidated statements of operations are either credited or charged, respectively, 
in the period during which the determination is made. 

Though the validity of any tax position is a matter of tax law, the body of statutory, regulatory, 
and interpretive guidance on the application of the law is complex and often ambiguous. Because 
of this, whether a tax position will ultimately be sustained may be uncertain. The Company’s 
recognition of an uncertain tax position is dependent on whether or not that position is more likely 
than not of being sustained upon audit by the relevant taxing authority. If an uncertain tax position 
is more likely than not to be sustained, the position must be recognized at the largest amount that 
is more likely than not to be sustained. No portion of an uncertain tax position will be recognized 
if the position has less than a 50% likelihood of being sustained. Refer to Note 15 for more 
information.  

Recent Accounting Pronouncements  

In March 2020, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued ASU 2020-04, 
Reference Rate Reform (Topic 848): Facilitation of the Effects of Reference Rate Reform on 
Financial Reporting, which provides optional expedients and exceptions for applying U.S. GAAP 
to contracts, hedging relationships, and other transactions that reference London Interbank Offered 
Rate (“LIBOR”) and other interbank offered rates expected to be discontinued because of reference 
rate reform. This amendment is effective as of March 12, 2020 through December 31, 2022. The 
guidance was effective upon issuance and generally can be applied to applicable contract 
modifications through December 31, 2022. The adoption of this guidance did not have a material 
impact on the Company’s condensed consolidated financial statements. 
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1. Business and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

Recent Accounting Pronouncements (continued) 

On April 8, 2020, the FASB held a public meeting and shortly afterwards issued a question-and-
answer ("Q&A") document which was intended to provide accounting relief for lease concessions 
related to the COVID-19 pandemic. The accounting relief permits an entity to choose to forgo the 
evaluation of the enforceable rights and obligations of a lease contract, which is a requirement of 
Accounting Standards Codification Topic 842, Leases, as long as the total rent payments after the 
lease concessions are substantially the same, or less than, the total payments previously required 
by the lease. An entity may account for COVID-19 related lease concessions either (i) as if they 
were part of the enforceable rights and obligations of the parties under the existing lease contract; 
or (ii) as a lease modification. To the extent that a rent concession is granted as a deferral of 
payments, but the total lease payments are substantially the same, lessees are permitted to account 
for the concession as if no change had been made to the original lease contract.  

The Company has elected to account for qualifying COVID-19 related rent concessions as if they 
were part of the enforceable rights and obligations of the parties under the existing lease contract. 
Refer to Note 9 for more information. 

In December 2019, the FASB issued ASU 2019-12, Income Taxes (Topic 740): Simplifying the 
Accounting for Income Taxes (ASU 2019-12), which is intended to simplify various aspects related 
to accounting for income taxes. The guidance is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 
15, 2021 and interim periods within fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2022, with early 
adoption permitted. The adoption of this guidance did not have a material impact on the Company’s 
condensed consolidated financial statements. 
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2. Revenue 

Disaggregation of Revenue 

Financial information relating to our operations by line of business is as follows: 

(in thousands)
December 27,

2022
December 28,

2021
December 29,

2020
Coffeehouse and bagel bakery sales  $         792,112  $         709,744  $         599,983 
Franchise royalties and fees               23,426               20,000               16,975 
Franchise advertising sales                 4,017                 3,524                 2,519 

Product sales:
Franchise               38,870               28,812               22,282 
Commercial             111,266               95,384               94,136 
Total franchise and commercial product sales             150,136             124,196             116,418 
Net sales  $         969,691  $         857,464  $         735,895 

Fiscal Year Ended

 

Sublease income, reported within retail revenue, was $0.5 million, $0.6 million, and $0.7 million 
for the fiscal years ended December 27, 2022, December 28, 2021, and December 29, 2020, 
respectively. Total future minimum sublease rental income is $0.7 million as of December 27, 
2022. 
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2. Revenue (continued) 

Contract Liabilities 

The Company has contract liabilities which comprise unamortized upfront fees received from 
franchisees. A summary of significant changes to the unamortized upfront franchise fee liability 
balance, included within accrued expenses on the consolidated balance sheets, is presented below. 

(in thousands)
Not yet 

amortizing* Amortizing Total
Balance at December 29, 2020  $              586  $            2,720  $            3,306 
Additions:
Upfront fees associated with amortizing contracts that were 
     effective in prior periods due to the adoption of ASC 606                 (267)                  259                    (8)

Upfront fees associated with amortizing contracts that became
     effective during the fiscal year ended December 28, 2021                  834                  343               1,177 

Less:
Revenue recognized that was included in unamortized 
     upfront fees received from licensees/franchisees                    -                   (670)                 (670)

Voided contracts prior to store opening                   (88)                   (88)
Balance at December 28, 2021  $            1,065  $            2,652  $            3,717 
Additions:
Upfront fees associated with amortizing contracts that were 
     effective in prior periods due to the adoption of ASC 606                 (458)                  458                    -   

Upfront fees associated with amortizing contracts that became
     effective during the fiscal year ended December 27, 2022                  715                  651               1,366 

Less:
Revenue recognized that was included in unamortized 
     upfront fees received from licensees/franchisees                    -                   (669)                 (669)

Voided contracts prior to store opening                 (174)                    -                   (174)
Balance at December 27, 2022  $            1,148  $            3,092  $            4,240 
*“Not yet amortizing” includes deferred upfront fees for stores that have not yet opened and therefore have not yet 
begun the amortization process.

 

In March 2020, the Company terminated its Indo Franchise Agreement, and the franchisee closed 
the six coffeehouses operating thereunder. Due to the termination of the contract, the Company 
recorded revenue of $0.9 million associated with the elimination of the remaining short-and long-
term deferred revenue under the contract.  
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2. Revenue (continued) 

Contract Liabilities (continued) 

The Company expects to recognize amortizing upfront franchise fees as revenue over the 
remaining term of the associated franchise agreement as follows (in thousands): 

Fiscal year Amount
2023  $         556 
2024             478 
2025             389 
2026             282 
2027             217 
2028 and thereafter          1,170 

 $      3,092 
 

The Company also has contract liabilities for its stored value cards. Revenue from stored value 
cards is recognized upon card redemption. The Company’s stored value cards do not expire. Based 
on historical redemption rates, a small and relatively stable percentage of stored cards will never 
be redeemed, referred to as "breakage." Estimated breakage revenue is recognized over time in 
proportion to actual stored value card redemptions. A summary of significant changes to the stored 
value card liability balance, included within accrued expenses on the consolidated balance sheets, 
is presented below (in thousands). 

Balance at December 29, 2020  $    13,828 
Stored value cards issued during the period      109,650 
Stored value cards redeemed during the period     (105,518)
Breakage         (4,187)

Balance at December 28, 2021  $    13,773 
Stored value cards issued during the period      119,284 
Stored value cards redeemed during the period     (118,014)
Breakage         (3,280)

Balance at December 27, 2022  $    11,763 
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3. Goodwill 

For financial accounting and reporting purposes, the Company reports results for its two business 
units as follows: (1) the Coffee business unit, including CCOC, Caribou Coffee Development 
Company, Inc. and Caribou MSP Airport, and (2) the Bagel Brands business unit, including 
ENRGI and its consolidated subsidiary, BEI. Within the two business units, the Company has 
allocated its goodwill into its seven reporting units and analyzes for impairment accordingly. These 
reporting units are defined as Coffee Retail, Coffee Commercial, Coffee Domestic Franchise & 
Licensing, Coffee International Franchise & Licensing, Bagels Retail, Bagels Commercial, and 
Bagels Domestic Franchise & Licensing. 

For the fiscal years ended December 27, 2022 and December 28, 2021, the Company elected to 
perform a qualitative assessment for its annual review of goodwill to determine whether or not 
indicators of impairment exist. As a result of the qualitative assessment, no indicators of 
impairment were identified, and no additional indicators of impairment were identified through 
the end of our fiscal year that would require further testing for impairment. 

Given the deterioration in general economic conditions, deterioration in market environments in 
which the Company operates, and the substantial reduction in our revenues and cash flows during 
2020 as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, the Company identified triggering events as of March 
31, 2020 that required it to assess the need for potential goodwill impairment charges. The 
Company’s goodwill impairment assessments were not significantly altered as a result of the 
COVID-19 pandemic; management continues to calculate fair value of each of the Company’s 
reporting units in excess of carrying value. The Company then performed a qualitative assessment 
of goodwill as of December 1, 2020, the annual testing date, for the remainder of fiscal year 2020, 
noting that projected revenue and cash flows had improved since the triggering event date. There 
were no goodwill impairment charges for the years ended December 28, 2021, December 29, 2020, 
and December 31, 2019. 
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4. Intangible Assets and Liabilities 

Intangible assets and liabilities consist of the following (in thousands): 

Gross Carrying 
Amount

Accumulated 
Amortization Net Amount

Intangible assets not subject to amortization:
Tradenames 457,500$             -$               457,500$      

Intangible assets subject to amortization:
Customer relationships 9,295                  (9,055)            240              
Tradename (Manhattan Bagel) 3,700                  (3,700)            -               
Reacquired franchise rights 957                     (835)               122              
Franchise agreements 35,470                (30,991)          4,479            
K-cup coffee supply agreement 4,800                  (4,310)            490              
Concession agreement 10,900                (5,405)            5,495            

Total intangible assets subject to amortization 65,122                (54,297)          10,825          
Total intangible assets 522,622$             (54,297)$        468,325$      

Gross Carrying 
Amount

Accumulated 
Amortization Net Amount

Intangible assets not subject to amortization:
Tradenames 457,500$             -$               457,500$      

Intangible assets subject to amortization:
Customer relationships 9,295                  (8,925)            370              
Tradename (Manhattan Bagel) 3,700                  (3,700)            -               
Reacquired franchise rights 957                     (759)               198              
Franchise agreements 35,470                (27,624)          7,846            
K-cup coffee supply agreement 4,800                  (4,030)            770              
Concession agreement 10,900                (4,860)            6,040            

Total intangible assets subject to amortization 65,122                (49,898)          15,224          
Total intangible assets 522,622$             (49,898)$        472,724$      

As of December 28, 2021

As of December 27, 2022

 

The Company recognized net intangible asset amortization expense of $4.4 million, $4.8 million, 
and $6.3 million during each of the fiscal years ended December 27, 2022, December 28, 2021, 
and December 29, 2020, respectively, included in depreciation and amortization expense in the 
consolidated statements of operations.  
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4. Intangible Assets and Liabilities (continued) 

The Company assigned the following useful lives to its intangible assets: 

Useful life Location of Amortization Expense
 
Tradenames Indefinite –
Tradename (Manhattan Bagel) 6.5 years Depreciation and amortization
Customer relationships 8-10 years Depreciation and amortization
Franchise agreements 6.5-10 years Depreciation and amortization
K-cup coffee supply agreement 10 years Depreciation and amortization
Reacquired franchise rights 5-8.8 years Depreciation and amortization
Concession agreement 20 years Depreciation and amortization  

The Company estimates that amortization expense related to intangible assets will be as follows 
for the next five fiscal years (in thousands): 

Fiscal 
2023

Fiscal 
2024

Fiscal 
2025

Fiscal 
2026

Fiscal 
2027 Thereafter Total

Customer relationships  $       130  $       110  $          -    $          -    $          -    $                 -   240$        
Tradename (Manhattan Bagel)              -                -                -                -                -                       -   -          
Reacquired franchise rights             77             36               8              -                -                       -   121          
Franchise agreements        2,423        1,982             27             27             20                     -   4,479       
K-cup coffee supply agreement           280           210              -                -                -                       -   490          
Concession agreement           545           545           545           545           545               2,770 5,495       
Total  $    3,455  $    2,883  $       580  $       572  $       565  $           2,770 10,825$   
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5. Derivative Financial Instruments 

The Company evaluates various strategies in managing its exposure to market-based risks, such 
as entering into derivative transactions to manage its exposure to fluctuating interest rates. 

The Company’s derivatives are recorded at fair value in accrued expenses at December 28, 2021 
and in other long-term liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets at December 29, 2020.  For 
those cash flow hedges that have been designated and qualify as an effective accounting hedge, 
the effective portion of the derivative’s gain or loss is initially reported as a component of other 
comprehensive loss, and subsequently reclassified into net earnings when the hedged exposure 
affects net income (loss).  For those cash flow hedges that are not designated or do not qualify as 
an effective accounting hedge, the entire derivative gain or loss is recorded in interest expense on 
the consolidated statements of operations as incurred. 

On July 2, 2018, the Company entered into an interest rate swap with BBVA Compass Bank 
pursuant to an ISDA Master Agreement. During 2021, PNC Financial Services Group acquired 
the U.S. subsidiary of BBVA, and as a result, the Company’s interest rate swap is now held at 
PNC (the Bank). The Company entered into the interest rate swap agreement to mitigate its risk 
on $350 million of the Company’s total outstanding debt under its amended and restated credit 
facility dated as of October 5, 2017. The interest rate swap is designated as a cash flow hedge. It 
has an effective date of July 2, 2018, a trade date of July 3, 2018, and a termination date of October 
5, 2022. The Company is required to make certain variable rate interest payments to the Bank 
based on a one-month LIBOR rate calculated on an initial notional amount of $350 million, with 
annual amortizing reductions of the notional from $350 million to $250 million by its termination 
date. The Company pays or receives payment for the difference between the swap rate of 2.7825% 
and the variable rate, effectively fixing the annual interest rate payable on the outstanding notional 
amount of the Company’s total outstanding debt at 2.7825%, plus an applicable margin rate 
ranging from 1.25% to 2.00%.  To the extent the hedge is effective; changes in fair value will be 
recorded in other comprehensive income. To the extent the hedge is ineffective, changes in fair 
value will be recorded as a charge/credit to income.  

Changes in fair value of the interest rate swaps are recorded as a component of accumulated other 
comprehensive income ("AOCI") in the consolidated balance sheets.  The Company reclassifies 
the effective gain or loss from AOCI to interest expense in the Condensed Consolidated Statements 
of Operations at the time of the forecasted transaction.  The following table presents pre-tax gains 
and losses on the interest rate swaps recognized in other comprehensive income (“OCI”) and 
reclassified from AOCI to earnings for the periods indicated (in thousands): 

December 27, 
2022

December 28, 
2021

December 29, 
2020

Net gains (losses) recognized in OCI before reclassifications  $           1,100  $               589  $           (9,548)
Net (gains) losses reclassified from AOCI to earnings  $           3,200  $            7,516  $            6,205 

Fiscal Year Ended
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5. Derivative Financial Instruments (continued) 

The Company did not recognize a gain or loss due to hedge ineffectiveness during the fiscal years 
ended December 27, 2022, December 28, 2021, and December 29, 2020. The Company does not 
hold or use derivative instruments for trading purposes. The Company does not have any 
derivatives that are not designated as hedging instruments and has not designated any non-
derivatives as hedging instruments. 

During June 2022, in connection with the Company’s debt refinancing, the Company paid $0.3 
million to terminate a portion of its interest rate swap and novated its remaining $0.4 million 
interest rate swap balance to Panera Brands, Inc. The final payment on the terminated swap equaled 
the fair value of the interest rate swap at the time of its termination, and a gain of $0.1 million was 
recognized as a result of the transaction. No gain or loss was recorded as a result of the swap 
novation. Since the hedged interest payments remain probable of occurring, the unrecognized 
gains and losses that existed as of the novation of these interest rate swap agreements were 
amortized out of accumulated other comprehensive loss and into interest expense, net over the 
remaining period of the original novated interest rate swap agreement, and the Company recorded 
its share of the parent company transaction.  

6. Fair Value Measurements 

Recurring Fair Value Measurements 

The following table presents the assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis 
as of December 27, 2022 (in thousands):  

Total
December 27, 2022 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Noncontrolling interests subject to put provision  $                  64,689  $            -    $            -    $     64,689 
Total mezzanine equity  $                  64,689  $            -    $            -    $     64,689 

 

The following table presents the financial liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis as 
of December 28, 2021 (in thousands): 

Total
December 28, 2021 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Interest rate swap qualified for hedging  $                    4,970  $            -    $       4,970  $            -   
Total liabilities  $                    4,970  $            -    $       4,970  $            -   

Noncontrolling interests subject to put provision  $                  35,129  $            -    $            -    $     35,129 
Total mezzanine equity  $                  35,129  $            -    $            -    $     35,129 
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6. Fair Value Measurements 

Recurring Fair Value Measurements (continued) 

The fair value of noncontrolling interests subject to put provision is estimated using a market 
approach, which estimates the value of the stock based upon comparison to comparable public 
companies in a similar line of business. From the comparable public companies, a representative 
market value multiple is determined and then applied to the Company’s financial metrics. The 
interest rate swap is included at fair value on the consolidated balance sheets in accrued expenses 
as of December 28, 2021. Fair value is determined using quoted prices based on observable inputs, 
and these are considered to be Level 2 instruments. 

Nonrecurring Fair Value Measurements  

Certain nonfinancial assets, primarily property, plant, and equipment, right of use assets, goodwill 
and intangible assets, are not required to be measured at fair value on a recurring basis and are 
reported at carrying value. However, these assets are required to be assessed for impairment 
whenever events or circumstances indicate that their carrying value may not be fully recoverable, 
and at least annually for goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets. In the event an impairment 
is required, the asset is adjusted to fair value, using market-based assumptions. 

The fair value of non-financial assets measured at fair value on a non-recurring basis, which is 
classified as Level 3 in the fair value hierarchy, is determined based on appraisals or sales prices 
of comparable assets and estimates of future cash flows.  

As of December 27, 2022, long-lived assets held and used with a carrying amount of $9.0 million 
associated with distinct underperforming Company-owned coffeehouses and bagel bakeries were 
determined to have a fair value of $6.1 million, resulting in an impairment loss of $2.9 million. 

As of December 28, 2021, long-lived assets held and used with a carrying amount of $16.2 million 
associated with distinct underperforming Company-owned coffeehouses and bagel bakeries were 
determined to have a fair value of $14.4 million, resulting in an impairment loss of $1.8 million.  

As of December 29, 2020, long-lived assets held and used with a carrying amount of $38.6 million 
associated with distinct underperforming Company-owned coffeehouses and bagel bakeries and 
Company-owned coffeehouses and bagel bakeries were determined to have a fair value of $34.2 
million, resulting in an impairment loss of $4.4 million.   

Impairment charges on coffeehouse and bagel bakery assets and right of use assets are classified 
as Level 3 within the fair value hierarchy. Impairments of property and equipment, net are recorded 
within depreciation and amortization expense in the consolidated statements of operations. 
Impairments of operating lease assets are recorded within occupancy expense in the consolidated 
statements of operations for the fiscal years ended December 27, 2022 and December 28, 2021 
and within depreciation and amortization expenses for the fiscal year ended December 29, 2020.  

Bruegger's - 2023 FDD (298)



Caribou Coffee Company, Inc. and Subsidiaries 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 

As of December 27, 2022 and December 28, 2021; and for the 
Fiscal Years Ended December 27, 2022, December 28, 2021, and December 29, 2020 

32 

7. Inventories 

Inventories consist of the following (in thousands):  

Coffee  $           7,163  $           5,576 
Raw materials                  692                  642 
Finished goods             17,146             15,501 
Total  $         25,001  $         21,719 

December 28, 
2021

December 27, 
2022

 

As of December 27, 2022, the Company had the following outstanding raw inventory commodity 
purchase commitments with fully fixed prices, market only fixed prices and premium only fixed 
prices, with remaining terms in excess of one year (in thousands): 

Fiscal year Amount
2023  $                       61,230 
2024                           21,048 
Thereafter                                606 

 $                       82,884 
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8. Property and Equipment 

Property and equipment consist of the following (in thousands):  

Leasehold improvements  $      184,348  $       173,304 
Machinery and equipment          151,756           142,195 
Computer software            16,127             14,142 
Furniture and fixtures            52,952             50,217 
Smallwares              3,004                  169 
Construction in progress              8,218               5,784 

         416,405           385,811 
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization         (282,084)         (255,830)
Total  $      134,321  $       129,981 

 December 27, 
2022

December 28, 
2021

 

The Company recorded depreciation expense related to these assets of $35.7 million, $35.7 
million, and $39.1 million for the fiscal years ended December 27, 2022, December 28, 2021, and 
December 29, 2020, respectively, reported in depreciation and amortization in our consolidated 
statements of operations. Depreciation expense for the fiscal years ended December 27, 2022, 
December 28, 2021, and December 29, 2020 includes equipment and leasehold improvement 
impairments of $0.9 million, $1.0 million, and $2.1 million, respectively. Repair and maintenance 
expenses are reported in the following lines in our consolidated statements of operations as follows 
(in thousands): 

December 27, 
2022

December 28, 
2021

December 29, 
2020

 
Other operating expenses  $           16,985  $           15,404  $           13,265 
General and administrative expenses                    783                 1,021                    617 
Total  $           17,768  $           16,425  $           13,882 

Fiscal Year Ended
Repair and Maintenance Expenses Included 

in the Statement of Operations Line

 

The Company capitalized $0.6 million, $0.6 million, and $0.3 million of costs incurred in cloud 
computing service arrangements that are service contracts during the fiscal years ended December 
27, 2022, December 28, 2021, and December 29, 2020, respectively. 
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9. Leases 

Lease expenses are reported in cost of sales and related occupancy costs in the consolidated 
statements of operations. Certain leases provide for contingent (variable or percentage) rent, which 
is determined as a percentage of gross sales in excess of specified levels. The components of lease 
expense were as follows (in thousands): 

December 27, 
2022

December 28, 
2021

December 29, 
2020

Operating lease expense  $               62,170  $               60,278  $               63,663 
Variable lease expense                     2,260                     3,021                     2,504 
Non-lease components                   36,245                   34,124                   34,648 
Total occupancy expense  $             100,675  $               97,423  $             100,815 

Fiscal year ended

 

Supplemental cash flow information related to leases follows (in thousands): 

December 27, 
2022

December 28, 
2021

December 29, 
2020

Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease liabilities:
Operating cash flows related to operating leases 69,984$               80,281$               58,913$               

Right of use assets obtained in exchange for new operating lease liabilities 20,601$               10,201$               4,135$                 

Fiscal year ended

 

The Company monitors for events or changes in circumstances that may require a reassessment of 
one of its leases and determines if a remeasurement is required. The balance of COVID-19-related 
rent concessions the Company received for coffeehouses and bagel bakeries, recorded in current 
operating lease liabilities and long-term operating lease liabilities on the consolidated balance 
sheets and generally correlating with the temporary period our stores were closed, was $0.2 million 
and $0.6 million for the years ended December 27, 2022 and December 28, 2021, respectively. 
Consistent with updated guidance from the FASB in April 2020, the Company elected to treat 
COVID-19-related rent concessions as if they were part of the enforceable rights and obligations 
of the existing contract. Reductions in lease liabilities were recorded with corresponding 
reductions in the right of use assets.  
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9. Leases (continued) 

As of December 27, 2022, the weighted-average remaining lease term and discount rate were as 
follows: 

Weighted-Average Remaining Lease 
Term (Years)

Weighted-Average 
Discount Rate (1)

Operating leases 5.4 6.7%  
(1) The Company cannot determine the interest rate implicit in its leases. Therefore, the discount rate used in 
determining the present value of lease payments represents the Company's incremental borrowing rate, which is 
determined based on the risk-free rate, adjusted for the risk premium attributed to the Company's credit rating for a 
secured or collateralized debt instrument. 

Future minimum lease payments under non-cancelable operating leases as of December 27, 2022 
were as follows: 

Fiscal Year Operating Leases
2023 70,285                    
2024 61,919                    
2025 51,849                    
2026 42,492                    
2027 29,292                    
Thereafter 47,993                    

Total future minimum lease payments 303,830$                
Less: imputed interest (49,088)                   

Present value of minimum lease payments 254,742$                
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10. Accrued Expenses 

 Accrued expenses consisted of the following (in thousands): 

 December 27, 2022 December 28, 2021
Compensation and related employment taxes  $                    19,956  $                    29,275 
Gift card liability                        11,763                        13,773 
Loyalty program                        11,077                          9,899 
Taxes, other than income tax                          4,743                          5,276 
Insurance                          6,077                          5,600 
Advertising                          3,313                          2,934 
Occupancy costs                          2,561                          1,450 
Utilities                          1,607                          1,263 
Capital expenditures                          2,515                          1,723 
Interest payable                               11                             688 
Deferred revenue                             983                          1,270 
Interest rate swaps                                -                            4,970 
Due to related parties                             575                                -   
Other                          7,839                          6,173 
Total  $                    73,020  $                    84,294 

 

The Company self-insures a portion of the exposure for costs related to employee healthcare, 
workers’ compensation, and general liability. The Company utilizes third party actuarial experts’ 
estimates of expected losses based on statistical analyses of the Company's actual historical data 
and historical industry data to determine required self-insurance reserves.  The assumptions are 
closely reviewed, monitored, and adjusted when warranted. Estimated accruals for these liabilities 
could be affected if actual experience related to the number of claims and cost per claim differ 
from these assumptions and historical trends. As of December 27, 2022 and December 28, 2021, 
self-insurance reserves were $6.1 million and $5.6 million, respectively, and were included in 
accrued expenses in the consolidated balance sheets.  Total amounts expensed for self-insurance 
were $17.4 million, $14.3 million, and $10.1 million for fiscal 2022, fiscal 2021, and fiscal 2020, 
respectively. Expenses are recorded based on actuarial estimates for reported and incurred but not 
reported claims considering several factors, including historical claims experience, severity 
factors, litigation costs, inflation, and other actuarial assumptions.  
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11. Paycheck Protection Loan 

During 2020, the Company did not seek nor receive a Paycheck Protection Program (“PPP”) Loan; 
however, in April 2020, the 51% partner in Caribou MSP Airport applied for and received a 
Paycheck Protection Loan under the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act (CARES 
Act) in the principal amount of $0.4 million. In July 2021, Caribou MSP Airport applied for and 
received a second Paycheck Protection Loan under the CARES Act (CARES Act Loans, together, 
with the original loan) in the principal amount of $0.6 million. The Company elected to account 
for the CARES Act Loans proceeds as a long-term liability, included in the Company’s other long-
term liabilities on the consolidated balance sheet, pursuant to the terms of the CARES Act Loan 
Program and pursuant to all regulations and guidance promulgated or provided by the Small 
Business Administration (the “SBA”) and other federal agencies that are now, or may become, 
applicable to the loan. The loans bear interest at the rate of 1% per annum and has a 2-year term.  

During the third quarter of 2021, Caribou MSP Airport submitted an application for forgiveness 
of the first PPP Loan and upon approval by the SBA and the lender, Caribou MSP Airport received 
forgiveness for 100% of the $0.4 million loan. During the fourth quarter of 2021, Caribou MSP 
Airport submitted an application for forgiveness of the second PPP Loan and upon approval by the 
SBA and the lender, Caribou MSP Airport received forgiveness for 100% of the $0.6 million loan. 
Both amounts are recorded in other income in the consolidated statements of operations for the 
fiscal year ended December 28, 2021. 

12. Debt 

In February 2015, the Company entered into a bank line of credit and term loan (the Bank 
Agreement) with Rabobank Nederland and a syndicate of other lenders (the Lenders).  

The Bank Agreement established a $475 million credit facility consisting of a $375 million 
revolving credit loan and a $100 million term loan subject to certain limits for borrowing, 
prepaying or reborrowing. The Bank Agreement includes provisions for the borrowing of 
swingline loans of up to $20 million and letters of credit of up to $20 million.  The Bank Agreement 
is subject to commitment fees for unused credit ranging from 0.20% to 0.30%, based upon the total 
leverage ratio. Letters of credit incur participation fees based upon the applicable margin for 
Eurodollar loans ranging from 1.25% to 2.00% based upon the Company’s leverage ratio and is 
payable based upon the amount of the letter of credit exposure.  
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12. Debt (continued) 

Loans under the Bank Agreement can be either a base rate loan or Eurodollar loan. Base rate loans 
bear interest at the greater of (a) the Prime rate, (b) 0.50% to 1.00% above the Federal Funds 
Effective rate or (c) the adjusted LIBO rate for a Eurodollar loan with a one-month interest period 
plus 1%, plus an applicable margin on base rate loans of 0.25% to 1.00% based upon the 
Company’s leverage ratio. A Eurodollar loan bears interest at the London InterBank Offered Rate 
for a Eurodollar loan multiplied by a statutory reserve rate plus an applicable margin on Eurodollar 
loans of 1.25% to 2.00% based upon the Company’s leverage ratio. 

The financial covenants under the Bank Agreement require the Company to comply with a 
maximum total leverage ratio and a minimum interest coverage ratio, each measured quarterly.  
Under the Bank Agreement, the Company was required to maintain a total leverage ratio of not 
more than 4.25 to 1 for the quarters ended September 30, 2017 through September 30, 2019. On 
May 24, 2019, the Company entered into the third amendment to the Bank Agreement, which 
modified the leverage ratio requirement. Commencing with the fiscal quarter ending June 30, 
2019, the Company was required to maintain a total leverage ratio of not more than 4.50 to 1 as of 
the last day of any fiscal quarter. The Company was also required to maintain an interest coverage 
ratio of at least 3.5 to 1.  The third amendment also introduced limitations for annual capital 
expenditures.  On June 30, 2020, the Company entered into the fourth amendment to the Bank 
Agreement. Commencing with the fiscal quarter ending June 30, 2020 and running through the 
fiscal quarter ending March 31, 2021 (the “Waiver Period”), the reporting requirements for the 
leverage ratio and interest coverage ratio were waived. In place of the leverage ratio and interest 
coverage ratio reporting requirements, during the Waiver Period, the Company was required to 
maintain minimum liquidity of $30 million, defined as the sum of unrestricted cash plus the 
amount of debt available for borrowing under the terms of the Bank Agreement. During the Waiver 
Period, the Company was required to report monthly compliance with the minimum liquidity 
covenant.  

On April 28, 2021, the Company entered into the fifth amendment to the Bank Agreement. 
Commencing with the fiscal quarter ending June 30, 2020 and running through the fiscal quarter 
ending June 29, 2022 (the “Second Waiver Period”), the reporting requirements for the leverage 
ratio and interest coverage ratio were waived. In place of the leverage ratio and interest coverage 
ratio reporting requirements, during the Second Waiver Period, the Company was required to 
maintain minimum liquidity of $45 million, defined as the sum of unrestricted cash plus the 
amount of debt available for borrowing under the terms of the Bank Agreement. Starting with the 
quarter ending June 30, 2022, the Company was again required to maintain a total leverage ratio 
of not more than 4.50 to 1 as of the last day of any fiscal quarter.  The Company was also required 
to maintain an interest coverage ratio of at least 3.5 to 1 starting with the quarter ending June 30, 
2022. 
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12. Debt (continued) 

The Bank Agreement also provides customary restrictions upon additional indebtedness or liens, 
fundamental changes to the business, dispositions, investments, transactions with affiliates, 
transfers of assets, payment of dividends, making or repaying loans, modifying material contracts, 
significant accounting changes, entry into hedging or sale leaseback agreements, or the use of 
proceeds for other than specific business purposes. The Bank Agreement is secured by 
substantially all of the assets of the Company and its subsidiaries. 

As of December 28, 2021, Caribou had total borrowings of $402.4 million under the Bank 
Agreement, composed of term loan borrowings of $89.4 million and borrowings under the 
revolving credit facility of $313.0 million, and outstanding letters of credit of $9.8 million resulting 
in $52.2 million of available capacity under the Bank Agreement.  The Company refinanced the 
Bank Agreement pursuant to the Company Credit Facility (as defined below) on June 15, 2022. 
All amounts were paid in full. 

Panera Brands, Inc. Credit Facility 

On June 15, 2022, Panera Brands, Inc. entered into a new credit agreement (the “PBI Credit 
Facility”). The PBI Credit Facility provided for term loans in two tranches with an aggregate 
principal amount of $1 billion each and a revolving credit facility in an aggregate principal amount 
of $1 billion. The initial proceeds from the PBI Credit Facility were used in part to refinance the 
Bank Agreement described above and to fund working capital needs for Panera Brands, Inc. The 
revolving credit facility is available for general corporate purposes for Panera Brands, Inc. and its 
subsidiaries, including the Company.  

Borrowings under the PBI Credit Facility accrue interest at a rate, per annum, equal to, in the case 
of “base rate” borrowings, the greater of (x) a prime rate, (y) the NYFRB Rate (as defined in the 
PBI Credit Facility) plus 0.50% and (z) the Adjusted Term SOFR Rate (as defined in the PBI Credit 
Facility) for a one month interest period plus a leverage-based margin of 0.25% to 1.00%. In the 
case of term benchmark borrowings, such borrowings under the PBI Credit Facility accrue interest 
at a rate, per annum, equal to the Adjusted Term SOFR Rate plus a leverage-based margin of 1.25% 
to 2.00%. Applicable interest rates are subject to a 0.00% SOFR floor. Letter of credit and unused 
revolver fees accrue based on a leverage-based fee. 

The revolving credit facility and one tranche of term loans under the PBI Credit Facility matures 
five years after closing, and the second tranche of term loans under the PBI Credit Facility matures 
three years after closing. The maturity date of any credit facility under the PBI Credit Facility may 
be extended by an additional year with the consent of the applicable lenders. Pursuant to this 
extension option, each of the revolving credit facility and the five-year term loan tranche may be 
extended on two occasions and the three-year term loan tranche may be extended on one occasion. 
The obligations under the PBI Credit Facility are collateralized by substantially all of the assets of 
Panera Brands, Inc. and the guarantors of the PBI Credit Facility, which includes the loan parties 
under the Bank Agreement.  
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12. Debt (continued) 

The PBI Credit Facility contains customary negative covenants which, among other things, 
generally limited (with certain exceptions): mergers, amalgamations, or consolidations; the 
incurrence of additional indebtedness (including guarantees); the incurrence of additional liens; 
the sale, assignment, lease or conveyance or transfer of assets; certain investments and restricted 
payments (including to the Company); transactions with affiliates; engaging in materially different 
lines of business; swap agreements; and other activities customarily restricted in similar financing 
agreements. The PBI Credit Facility contains customary affirmative covenants, representations 
and warranties and events of default. The PBI Credit Facility also contains a financial covenant in 
which Panera Brands, Inc. shall not permit the Total Net Leverage Ratio (as defined in the PBI 
Credit Facility) to exceed 5.50x. Panera Brands, Inc. is in compliance with all financial covenants 
under the PBI Credit Facility as of December 27, 2022. 

The PBI Credit Facility requires a “Qualifying IPO” (as defined in the PBI Credit Facility) to occur 
on or prior to June 15, 2023. Within 10 business days after the occurrence of a “Qualifying IPO”, 
Panera Brands, Inc. is also required to repay $160.0 million of outstanding borrowings under the 
PBI Credit Facility.  A “Qualifying IPO” includes certain public issuances of common equity 
interests, SPAC transactions, and cash contributions to, and issuances of, qualified equity interests 
that, in each case, generate gross proceeds of not less than $660.0 million. 

On June 25, 2022, Panera Brands, Inc. and the Company entered into an Intercompany Loan 
Agreement, which allocates a portion of the PBI Credit Facility to the Company: term loans in two 
tranches with an aggregate principal amount of $86.9 million each and a revolving credit facility 
in an aggregate principal amount of $374.8 million. The terms and covenants of the Intercompany 
Loan Agreement essentially mirror that of the PBI Credit Facility. The Company is in compliance 
with all financial covenants under the Intercompany Loan Agreement as of December 27, 2022. 

As of December 27, 2022, the Company had total borrowings of $339.9 million under the PBI 
Credit Facility, composed of term loan borrowings of $86.9 million and borrowings under the 
revolving credit facility of $253.0 million, and outstanding letters of credit of $9.8 million resulting 
in $112.0 million of available capacity under the Company Credit Facility. As of December 27, 
2022, the caption "Current portion of long-term debt" in the Condensed Consolidated Balance 
Sheets includes borrowings of $4.3 million under the Company Credit Facility, composed of 
principal payments due within twelve months of December 27, 2022, and $0.5 million of deferred 
financing fees. 

In connection with the acquisition of the PBI Credit Facility, the Company paid debt acquisition 
costs of $2.3 million during the fiscal year ended December 27, 2022. These costs have been 
capitalized as deferred financing fees. Deferred financing fees on the consolidated balance sheets 
as of December 27, 2022 and December 28, 2021 totaled approximately $2.4 million and $1.6 
million, respectively. Amortization expense of deferred financing fees, including write-offs of debt 
acquisition costs associated with the Bank Agreement in 2022, totaled $1.6 million, $1.8 million, 
and $1.0 million for the fiscal years ended December 27, 2022, December 28, 2021, and December 
29, 2020, respectively. 
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13. Noncontrolling Interests Subject to Put Provisions and Stock-Based Compensation 

Caribou Coffee Company, Inc. Long-Term Incentive Plan and Executive Ownership Plan 

During 2013, the Company established the Caribou Coffee Company, Inc. Long-Term Incentive 
Plan (C-LTIP), which provides for the granting of non-qualified stock options and restricted stock 
to officers and key employees. The Company is authorized to issue a maximum of 1,300,000 shares 
of its $.01 par value common stock pursuant to the C-LTIP. The plan includes provisions for the 
grantee, after the satisfaction of a six month hold period, to sell the vested shares to the Company 
in exchange for the current fair value of the shares.  The Company has the option to call outstanding 
vested shares in exchange for the current fair value of the shares.  

During the fiscal years ended December 28, 2022 and December 29, 2021, the Company issued 
restricted stock awards and non-qualified stock options to employees that vest four and half years 
from the date of grant.  Restricted stock awards include a six-month holding period before the 
employee can sell the shares. Non-qualified stock options can be exercised any time after vesting 
and up to ten years from the date of grant. As of December 27, 2022, 1.2 million shares of the 
Company’s common stock were available for issuance under the C-LTIP. 

On June 13, 2013, the Company established the Caribou Executive Ownership Plan (C-EOP). The 
C-EOP allows eligible executive employees and non-employee directors to purchase shares of the 
Company’s common stock during specified investment periods at an amount that equals or exceeds 
an investment minimum, which is defined as five percent of the participant’s annual base salary 
divided by the fair market value of a share on the investment date. In no event shall the aggregate 
value of shares acquired by any participant pursuant to the C-EOP exceed the 
aggregate investment limit, which is defined as the product of ten and the participant’s annual base 
salary.  

The C-EOP allows for the granting of matching awards of the number of shares purchased by the 
participants and vests on the 54-month anniversary of the investment date. The matching awards 
granted, as well as any shares issued at a discount, under the C-EOP are accounted for as stock-
based compensation expense. There were no purchases of the Company’s stock under the C-EOP 
during the fiscal years ended December 27, 2022 and December 28, 2021. 

Shareholders who purchased shares under the C-EOP plan may sell the shares to the Company 
during specified investment periods for the then current fair value.  Shareholders are subject to 
market risk on the value of their shares. During the fiscal year ended December 27, 2022, 0.1 
million shares were repurchased by the Company for $2.8 million, net of shareholder loans. During 
the fiscal year ended December 28, 2021, less than 0.1 million shares were repurchased by the 
Company for $0.6 million, net of shareholder loans. As of December 27, 2022, 2.0 million shares 
of the Company’s common stock were available for issuance under the C-EOP. 
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13. Noncontrolling Interests Subject to Put Provisions and Stock-Based Compensation 
(continued) 

Caribou Coffee Company, Inc. Long-Term Incentive Plan and Executive Ownership Plan 
(continued) 

Restricted stock units are valued based on the grant-date fair value of the shares. The fair value of 
the shares is estimated using a market approach, which estimates the value of the stock based upon 
comparison to comparable public companies in a similar line of business. From the comparable 
public companies, a representative market value multiple is determined and then applied to the 
Company’s financial metrics. The estimated grant date fair value of each stock-based award is 
recognized in the consolidated statements of operations on a straight-line basis over the requisite 
service period (generally the vesting period). Total stock-based compensation expense for all 
CCCI C-LTIP and matching awards under the C-EOP plans for the fiscal years ended December 
27, 2022 and December 28, 2021 was $1.3 million and $0.9 million, respectively, and is included 
in general and administrative expenses on the consolidated statements of operations. 

Stock option activity during the fiscal years ended December 27, 2022, December 28, 2021 is as 
follows (in thousands, except per share and life data): 

Outstanding, December 29, 2020           14  $             66.39 5.7 years
Granted           -                        -   
Exercised           -                        -   
Cancelled           (9)                 69.63 

Outstanding, December 28, 2021             5  $             60.62 5.5 years
Granted           -                        -   
Exercised           (2)                 58.76 
Cancelled           -                        -   

Outstanding, December 27, 2022             3  $             62.31 4.3 years

Vested and expected to vest             3  $             62.31 4.3 years
Exercisable, December 27, 2022             3  $             62.31 4.3 years

Options Outstanding

Number 
of 

Shares

Weighted 
Average 

Exercise Price

Weighted 
Average 

Contract Life

 

Stock options were issued with an exercise price equal to the market price of our common stock 
on the date of grant.  As of December 27, 2022, all stock options in the Caribou Coffee Company, 
Inc. equity plans were vested. There was no unrecognized compensation cost related to non-vested 
stock options granted to employees. 
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13. Noncontrolling Interests Subject to Put Provisions and Stock-Based Compensation 
(continued) 

Caribou Coffee Company, Inc. Long-Term Incentive Plan and Executive Ownership Plan 
(continued) 

Restricted stock activity during the fiscal years ended December 27, 2022 and December 28, 2021 
is as follows (in thousands, except per share data): 

Balance December 29, 2020         140  $                 55.71 
Granted           21                     49.08 
Vested         (17)                     60.74 
Forfeited         (17)                     55.00 

Balance December 28, 2021         127  $                 53.99 
Granted             4                     65.67 
Vested         (26)                     53.10 
Forfeited           -                             -   
Grants transferred to Einstein Noah Restaurant
   Group, Inc.         (63)                     56.31 

Balance December 27, 2022           42  $                 52.18 

Non-Vested Shares Outstanding Shares

Weighted 
Average Fair 

Value

 

As of December 27, 2022, there was $1.0 million of unrecognized compensation cost related to 
non-vested restricted shares granted to employees, which is expected to be recognized over a 
weighted average period of 2.4 years. 
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13. Noncontrolling Interests Subject to Put Provisions and Stock-Based Compensation 
(continued) 

Caribou Coffee Operating Company Long-Term Incentive Plan and Executive Ownership Plan 

In March 2020, CCOC established the CCOC Long-Term Incentive Plan (CCOC-LTIP), which 
provides for the granting of non-qualified stock options (NSOs) and restricted stock units (RSUs) 
to officers and key employees with terms identical to the C-LTIP. In March 2020, CCOC 
established the CCOC Executive Ownership Plan (CCOC-EOP) that allows eligible executive 
employees and non-employee directors to purchase shares of CCOC common stock with terms 
identical to the C-EOP. During the fiscal year ended December 27, 2022, executive employees 
purchased less than 0.1 million shares of CCOC under the CCOC-EOP for $0.1 million, net of 
shareholder loans. During the fiscal year ended December 28, 2021, executive employees 
purchased 0.1 million shares of CCOC under the CCOC-EOP for $0.9 million, net of shareholder 
loans. During the fiscal years ended December 27, 2022 and December 28, 2021, the Company 
granted matching shares of less than 0.1 million and 0.1 million shares of CCOC, respectively.  

Shareholders who purchased shares under the CCOC-EOP may sell the shares to CCOC during 
specified investment periods for the then current fair value. Shareholders are subject to market risk 
on the value of their shares. During the fiscal year ended December 27, 2022, 0.1 million shares 
were repurchased by CCOC for $0.5 million, net of shareholder loans. During the fiscal years 
ended December 28, 2021, less than 0.1 million shares were repurchased by CCOC for $0.2 
million, net of shareholder loans.  

The estimated grant date fair value of each stock-based award is recognized in the consolidated 
statements of operations on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period (generally the 
vesting period). The fair value of the shares is estimated using a market approach, which estimates 
the value of the stock based upon comparison to comparable public companies in a similar line of 
business. From the comparable public companies, a representative market value multiple is 
determined and then applied to the Company’s financial metrics. Total stock-based compensation 
expense for awards issued under the CCOC-LTIP and CCOC-EOP for the fiscal years ended 
December 27, 2022 and December 28, 2021 was $2.2 million and $1.8 million, respectively, and 
is included in general and administrative expenses on the consolidated statements of operations. 

  

Bruegger's - 2023 FDD (311)



Caribou Coffee Company, Inc. and Subsidiaries 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 

As of December 27, 2022 and December 28, 2021; and for the 
Fiscal Years Ended December 27, 2022, December 28, 2021, and December 29, 2020 

45 

13. Noncontrolling Interests Subject to Put Provisions and Stock-Based Compensation 
(continued) 

Caribou Coffee Operating Company Long-Term Incentive Plan and Executive Ownership Plan 

Stock option activity during the fiscal years ended December 27, 2022 and December 28, 2021 is 
as follows (in thousands, except per share and life data): 

Outstanding, December 29, 2020           48  $            28.86 7.0 years
Granted           -                        -   
Exercised           -                        -   
Expired           (1)                35.35 
Forfeited           (3)                29.40 
Outstanding, December 28, 2021           44  $            28.71 5.6 years
Granted           32                30.02 
Exercised           -                        -   
Expired           -                        -   
Forfeited           (1)                28.01 
Outstanding, December 27, 2022           75  $            29.29 6.8 years
Vested and expected to vest           66  $            29.18 6.4 years
Exercisable, December 27, 2022           43  $            28.73 5.0 years

Options Outstanding

Number 
of 

Shares

Weighted 
Average 

Exercise Price

Weighted 
Average 

Contract Life

 

Stock options were issued with an exercise price equal to the market price of our common stock 
on the date of grant. The weighted average fair value of the stock options granted during the fiscal 
year ended December 27, 2022 was $10.85. No stock options were granted during the fiscal year 
ended December 28, 2021. As of December 27, 2022, there was $0.2 million of unrecognized 
compensation cost related to CCOC non-vested stock options granted to employees, which is 
expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of 2.2 years.  

The Company estimated the fair value of each stock option award on the date of grant using a 
Black-Scholes option pricing model, modified for dividends and using the following assumptions: 

Expected stock price volatility 37.40%
Expected life 6.55 years
Risk free interest rate 1.87%
Dividend yield 1.00%
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13. Noncontrolling Interests Subject to Put Provisions and Stock-Based Compensation 
(continued) 

Caribou Coffee Operating Company Long-Term Incentive Plan and Executive Ownership Plan 
(continued) 

Restricted stock activity during the fiscal years ended December 27, 2022 and December 28, 2021 
is as follows (in thousands, except per share data): 

Balance December 29, 2020         255  $                 24.92 
Granted         183                     23.97 
Vested           (4)                     25.17 
Forfeited         (30)                     24.09 

Balance December 28, 2021         404  $                 24.50 
Granted           88                     30.43 
Vested         (80)                     25.17 
Forfeited           (8)                     24.51 

Balance December 27, 2022         404  $                 25.66 

Non-Vested Shares Outstanding Shares

Weighted 
Average Fair 

Value

 

As of December 28, 2021, there was $5.2 million of unrecognized compensation cost related to 
non-vested restricted shares granted to employees, which is expected to be recognized over a 
weighted average period of 2.8 years. 
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13. Noncontrolling Interests Subject to Put Provisions and Stock-Based Compensation 
(continued) 

Einstein Noah Restaurant Group, Inc. Long-Term Incentive Plan and Executive Ownership 
Plan 

In March 2020, ENRGI established the ENRGI Long-Term Incentive Plan (ENRGI-LTIP), which 
provides for the granting of non-qualified stock options (NSOs) and restricted stock units (RSUs) 
to officers and key employees with terms identical to the C-LTIP. In March 2020, ENRGI 
established the ENRGI Executive Ownership Plan (ENRGI-EOP) that allows eligible executive 
employees and non-employee directors to purchase shares of ENRGI common stock with terms 
identical to the C-EOP. During the fiscal year ended December 27, 2022, executive employees 
purchased 0.1 million shares of ENRGI for $1.0 million, net of shareholder loans.  During the 
fiscal year ended December 28, 2021, executive employees purchased 0.2 million shares of 
ENRGI for $1.6 million, net of shareholder loans. During the fiscal years ended December 27, 
2022 and December 28, 2021, the Company made matching grants of 0.1 million shares and 0.2 
million shares, respectively. 

Shareholders who purchased shares under the ENRGI-EOP may sell the shares to ENRGI during 
specified investment periods for the then current fair value. Shareholders are subject to market risk 
on the value of their shares. During the fiscal year ended December 27, 2022, less than 0.1 million 
shares were repurchased by ENRGI for $0.6 million, net of shareholder loans. During the fiscal 
year ended December 28, 2021, 0.1 million shares were repurchased by ENRGI for $1.1 million, 
net of shareholder loans.  

The estimated grant date fair value of each stock-based award is recognized in the consolidated 
statements of operations on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period (generally the 
vesting period). The fair value of the shares is estimated using a market approach, which estimates 
the value of the stock based upon comparison to comparable public companies in a similar line of 
business. From the comparable public companies, a representative market value multiple is 
determined and then applied to the Company’s financial metrics. Stock-based compensation 
expense for the ENRGI-LTIP and ENRGI-EOP for the fiscal years ended December 27, 2022 and 
December 28, 2021 was $3.9 million and $1.0 million, respectively, and is included in general and 
administrative expenses on the consolidated statements of operations. 
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13. Noncontrolling Interests Subject to Put Provisions and Stock-Based Compensation 
(continued) 

Einstein Noah Restaurant Group, Inc. Long-Term Incentive Plan and Executive Ownership 
Plan 

Stock option activity during the fiscal years ended December 27, 2022 and December 28, 2021 is 
as follows (in thousands, except per share and life data): 

Outstanding, December 29, 2020           84  $            28.85 6.8 years
Granted           -                        -   
Exercised           (9)                30.39 
Expired           (5)                31.81 
Forfeited         (24)                28.39 

Outstanding, December 28, 2021           46  $            28.43 5.2 years
Granted           71                33.02 
Exercised           (7)                30.61 
Expired           -                        -   
Forfeited           (1)                27.18 

Outstanding, December 27, 2022         109  $            31.28 7.7 years
Vested and expected to vest         100                31.12 7.5 years
Exercisable, December 27, 2022           38  $            28.06 5.0 years

Options Outstanding

Number 
of 

Shares

Weighted 
Average 

Exercise Price

Weighted 
Average 

Contract Life

 

Stock options were issued with an exercise price equal to the market price of our common stock 
on the date of grant. The weighted average fair value of the stock options granted during the fiscal 
year ended December 27, 2022 was $11.42. No stock options were granted during the fiscal year 
ended December 28, 2021. As of December 27, 2022, there was $0.4 million of unrecognized 
compensation cost related to ENRGI non-vested stock options granted to employees, which is 
expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of 0.7 years.  

The Company estimated the fair value of each stock option award on the date of grant using a 
Black-Scholes option pricing model, modified for dividends and using the following assumptions: 

Expected stock price volatility 37.78%
Expected life 5.80 years
Risk free interest rate 1.83%
Dividend yield 1.00%
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13. Noncontrolling Interests Subject to Put Provisions and Stock-Based Compensation 
(continued) 

Einstein Noah Restaurant Group, Inc. Long-Term Incentive Plan and Executive Ownership 
Plan (continued) 

Restricted stock activity during the fiscal years ended December 27, 2022 and December 28, 2021 
is as follows (in thousands, except per share data): 

Balance December 29, 2020         350  $                 23.81 
Granted         273                     25.34 
Vested         (28)                     24.42 
Forfeited       (144)                     24.45 

Balance December 28, 2021         451  $                 24.49 
Granted         215                     34.66 
Grants transferred from Caribou
   Coffee Company, Inc.         118                     34.66 
Vested         (14)                     24.42 
Forfeited         (28)                     25.73 

Balance December 27, 2022         742  $                 29.00 

Non-Vested Shares Outstanding Shares

Weighted 
Average Fair 

Value

 

As of December 27, 2022, there was $9.7 million of unrecognized compensation cost related to 
non-vested restricted shares granted to employees, which is expected to be recognized over a 
weighted average period of 2.8 years. 
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14. Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income 

The following tables summarize changes in accumulated other comprehensive income, net of tax, 
for the fiscal years ended December 27, 2022 and December 28, 2021 (in thousands): 

Cash flow 
hedging 

instruments

Accumulated 
other 

comprehensive 
income

Non-controlling 
interests subject 

to put 
provisions

Balances at December 29, 2020  $            (9,645)  $            (9,391)  $               (254)
Unrealized gains on cash flow hedging 
   instruments, net of tax

                    399                     395                         4 

Reclassification adjustment for net losses 
   realized in earnings on cash flow hedging 
   instruments, net of tax

                 5,579                  5,534                       45 

Balances at December 28, 2021  $            (3,667)  $            (3,462)  $               (205)
Unrealized gains on cash flow hedging 
   instruments, net of tax

                    817                     805                       12 

Reclassification adjustment for net losses 
   realized in earnings on cash flow hedging 
   instruments, net of tax

                 2,375                  2,340                       35 

Settlement and novation of cash flow 
   hedging instruments

                    475                     317                     158 

Balances at December 27, 2022  $                    -    $                    -    $                    -   
 

During the fiscal year ended December 27, 2022, the Company settled one interest rate swap 
contract and novated the remaining two to Panera Brands, Inc. Caribou Coffee Company, Inc. did 
not hold any cash flow hedging instruments as of December 27, 2022. Refer to Note 5 for more 
information on the settlement and novation.  
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15. Income Taxes 

The income tax expense (benefit) for the fiscal years ended December 27, 2022, December 28, 
2021, and December 29, 2020 consists of the following (in thousands): 

December 27, 
2022

December 28, 
2021

December 29, 
2020

Current
   Federal (2,969)$            -$                 -$                 
   State 1,930               515                  380                  
   International 256                  290                  244                  
Total Current (783)                 805                  624                  
Deferred
   Federal 7,955               7,153               (4,863)              
   State 1,514               2,783               1,413               
Total Deferred 9,469               9,936               (3,450)              
Total Tax Expense (Benefit) 8,686$             10,741$           (2,826)$            

Fiscal Year Ended

 

A reconciliation of the differences between income taxes computed at the U.S. Federal statutory 
tax rate and the Company’s income tax expense (benefit) for the fiscal years ended December 27, 
2022, December 28, 2021, and December 29, 2020 is as follows (in thousands): 

December 27, 
2022

December 28, 
2021

December 29, 
2020

Federal tax rate 12,207$           9,886$             (4,104)$            
Foreign taxes 256                  290                  244                  
State taxes 3,106               2,461               (1,101)              
Tax rate change to deferred taxes -                   -                   2,514               
Stock option windfall (32)                   29                    103                  
Tax credits (3,083)              (2,138)              (670)                 
Changes in unrecognized tax benefits (3,280)              -                   -                   
Return to Provision adjustments (190)                 115                  (37)                   
Other (298)                 98                    225                  

8,686$             10,741$           (2,826)$            

Fiscal Year Ended
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15. Income Taxes (continued) 

Deferred income taxes reflect the tax effect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts 
of the assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and amounts used for income taxes. 
The tax effects of temporary differences that give rise to significant portions of the Company’s 
deferred income tax assets (liabilities) are as follows (in thousands):  

December 27, 
2022

December 28, 
2021

Net operating losses and credit carryforwards 10,570$           9,748$             
Operating lease liabilities 68,885             61,775             
Accrued expenses 7,652               8,092               
State deferred taxes 4,281               4,395               
Deferred revenue 1,255               969                  
Stock based compensation 3,115               2,442               
Other 570                  1,394               
           Gross deferred tax assets 96,328             88,815             

Property & equipment (9,367)              (7,942)              
Operating lease assets (61,768)            (55,233)            
Other intangibles (125,984)          (127,280)          
           Gross deferred tax liabilities (197,119)          (190,455)          

Valuation allowance (30)                   (54)                   

           Net deferred tax liabilities (100,821)$        (101,694)$        
 

A valuation allowance of less than $0.1 million and approximately $0.1 million was placed on 
certain state net operating loss deferred tax assets as of December 27, 2022 and December 28, 
2021, respectively, as management believes it is not more likely than not those deferred tax assets 
will be realized. 
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15. Income Taxes (continued) 

Unrecognized tax benefits are included in accrued expenses and other accrued liabilities and 
deferred tax liability, net on the consolidated balance sheets. A reconciliation of the beginning and 
ending amount of unrecognized tax benefits for the fiscal years ended December 27, 2022 and 
December 28, 2021 was as follows (in thousands):  

December 27, 
2022

December 28, 
2021

Beginning gross unrecognized tax benefit 4,269$             4,288$             
Gross increases for prior periods -                       5                      
Gross decreases for prior periods (3,567)              (24)                   

Ending gross unrecognized tax benefit 702$                4,269$             

Fiscal Year Ended

 

The Company recognizes interest and penalties related to uncertain tax positions in income tax 
expense.  There was no penalty or interest to be recognized in income tax expense for any period 
presented.  The Company believes that it is reasonably possible that a decrease of up to $0.7 million 
in unrecognized tax benefits may be recognized by the end of 2023 as a result of a lapse of the 
statute of limitations.   

As of December 27, 2022, the Company had net operating loss carryforwards of approximately 
$0.0 million and $81.5 million for federal and state tax purposes, respectively.  The federal 
carryforwards do not expire.  If not utilized, state carryforwards will begin to expire in 2023. 

As of December 27, 2022, the Company had various tax credit carryforwards of approximately 
$6.1 million and $0.1 million for federal and state tax purposes, respectively. If not utilized, the 
credits can be carried forward between 10 and 20 years.  

For federal purposes, tax years prior to 2019 are closed for assessment purposes. 

The Company files a federal consolidated income tax return and various state unitary or combined 
income tax returns with Panera Brands, Inc. and Subsidiaries. As such, the Company has entered 
into a Tax Sharing Agreement with the Parent which governs the allocation, settlement, and 
administrative matters of the consolidated group of companies. As of December 27, 2022, the 
Company has recorded a $7.1 million net related party receivable within the ‘Deposits and other’ 
on the Consolidated Balance Sheets for the value of tax benefits or cash payments used by other 
companies as part of the fiscal years 2015 to 2021 and estimated 2022 consolidated tax filings. 
The income tax provision reflected in the consolidated financial statements has been prepared on 
a stand-alone basis. As of December 27, 2022, the Company has recorded a $4.5 million difference 
between the amount received under the tax matters agreement and the expected settlement amount 
prepared on the Company’s stand-alone basis as an additional investment by the parent within the 
consolidated statement of changes in shareholders’ equity. 
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16. Employee Benefit Plan 

Caribou sponsors a 401(k) defined contribution plan for substantially all employees, excluding key 
employees and officers, and generally matches 25% of the first 5% contributed by its employees 
after three months of employment. Caribou matching contributions are fully vested after four years 
of service. Caribou did not accrue or pay a discretionary match for the fiscal year ended December 
28, 2021. Amounts expensed for Caribou matching contributions to the plan aggregated to $0.3 
million and $0.1 million for the fiscal years ended December 27, 2022 and December 29, 2020, 
respectively.  

ENRGI sponsors a 401(k) defined contribution plan for substantially all employees, excluding key 
employees and officers, if they meet certain eligibility requirements.  ENRGI may generally make 
a matching contribution which would vest after three years of service. ENRGI did not accrue or 
pay a discretionary match for the fiscal years ended December 27, 2022 and December 28, 2021. 
Amounts expensed for ENRGI matching contributions to the plan aggregated to $0.1 million for 
the fiscal year ended December 29, 2020.  

The Company established the Caribou Nonqualified Deferred Compensation Plan (DC Plan) for 
key employees, generally officers, who were eligible to participate in the DC Plan effective 
January 1, 2019.   The DC Plan allows an eligible employee to defer up to 80% of their base salary 
and bonus.  The deferred amounts are invested with The Charles Schwab Trust Company under 
investment criteria directed by the participant.  

Due to the substantial reduction in the Company’s cash flows during 2020 as a result of the 
COVID-19 pandemic and its continued impact during 2021, the Company temporarily suspended 
Company matching contributions to its defined contribution plans and DC Plan. Caribou reinstated 
its matching contributions in January 2022; ENRGI reinstated its matching contributions in 
January 2023. 

17. Master Franchise Agreement 

Middle East Franchise Agreement 

In November 2004, the Company entered into a master franchise agreement (Middle East 
Franchise Agreement) with a franchisee. In 2017, the Middle East Franchise Agreement was 
amended to expand the rights of the franchisee to develop 600 Caribou Coffee branded 
coffeehouses and to extend the expiration date. The Middle East Franchise Agreement, as 
amended, expires in October 2027. 

The Company’s Middle East Franchise Agreement requires upfront franchise fees such as initial 
fees paid upon opening of a store and fees paid to renew the term of the franchise right. Fees are 
recognized over the term of the related franchise license for the respective coffeehouse or bagel 
bakery. Revenues for these upfront franchise fees are recognized on a straight-line basis over the 
life of the franchise agreement for the respective coffeehouse or bagel bakery, which is consistent 
with the franchisee’s right to use and benefit from the intellectual property.  
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17. Master Franchise Agreement (continued) 
 
Middle East Franchise Agreement (continued) 
 
Monthly royalty payments ranging from 3% to 5% of gross sales are also due to the Company 
under this Middle East Franchise Agreement. Royalty revenue of $3.7 million, $3.9 million, and 
$3.0 million was received during the fiscal years ended December 27, 2022, December 28, 2021, 
and December 29, 2020, respectively, and is included in franchise royalties and fees on the 
consolidated statements of operations. 

As of December 27, 2022, there were 287 coffeehouses operating under this agreement. 

Indo Franchise Agreement 

In January 2015, the Company entered into a master franchise agreement (Indo Franchise 
Agreement) with a franchisee partner in Indonesia.  The agreement was for ten years and granted 
the exclusive right to the franchisee to open sixty Caribou Coffee branded coffeehouses in 
Indonesia over the term of the agreement.   

Monthly royalty payments ranging from 3% to 5% of gross sales are also due to the Company. 
The agreement may be extended for an additional ten-year term. 

During 2020, the Company terminated the Indo Franchise Agreement, and the franchisee closed 
the six coffeehouses operating thereunder. As a result of the termination of the contract, the 
Company recorded revenue of $0.9 million associated with the elimination of the remaining short-
and long-term deferred revenue under the contract. In addition, the Company recorded operating 
expenses of $0.2 million associated with the elimination of startup costs that had previously been 
deferred.  

Domestic Master Franchise Agreements 

In November 2021, the Company entered into an area development agreement (“First Domestic 
Master Franchise Agreement”) with a franchisee. In December 2022, the First Domestic Franchise 
Agreement was amended to expand the rights of the franchisee to develop 60 Caribou Coffee 
branded coffeehouses within a specific development area, as defined in the agreement, and to 
extend the expiration date. The First Domestic Franchise Agreement, as amended, expires in 
December 2033. 

In January 2022, the Company entered into a second area development agreement (“Second 
Domestic Master Franchise Agreement”) with a separate franchisee. The Second Domestic 
Franchise Agreement grants the franchisee the right to develop 10 Caribou Coffee branded 
coffeehouses within a specific development area, as defined in the agreement. The Second 
Domestic Franchise Agreement expires in July 2025. 
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17. Master Franchise Agreement (continued) 

Domestic Master Franchise Agreements (continued) 

In January 2022, the Company entered into a third area development agreement (“Third Domestic 
Master Franchise Agreement”) with a separate franchisee. The Third Domestic Franchise 
Agreement grants the franchisee the right to develop 29 Caribou Coffee branded coffeehouses 
within a specific development area, as defined in the agreement, with the option to develop an 
additional 27 Caribou Coffee branded coffeehouses within the specified development area, 
provided certain conditions are met by the franchisee. The Third Domestic Franchise Agreement 
does not include a stated expiration date. 

Subsequent to year end, in January 2023, the Company entered into a fourth area development 
agreement (“Fourth Domestic Master Franchise Agreement”) with a separate franchisee. The 
Fourth Domestic Franchise Agreement grants the franchisee the right to develop 60 Caribou 
Coffee branded coffeehouses within a specific development area, as defined in the agreement. The 
Fourth Domestic Franchise Agreement expires in December 2030. 

The Company’s domestic franchise agreements require upfront franchise fees such as initial fees 
paid upon opening of a store and fees paid to renew the term of the franchise right. Fees are 
recognized over the term of the related franchise license for the respective coffeehouse or bagel 
bakery. Revenues for these upfront franchise fees are recognized on a straight-line basis over the 
life of the franchise agreement for the respective coffeehouse or bagel bakery, which is consistent 
with the franchisee’s right to use and benefit from the intellectual property.  

Monthly royalty payments ranging from 4% to 6% of gross sales are also due to the Company 
under these agreements. The first domestic franchise location under the First Domestic Franchise 
Agreement opened in November 2022, and less than $0.1 million of royalty revenue was recorded 
during the fiscal year ended December 27, 2022. 

18. Related-Party Transactions 

Sales of Coffee to Peet’s 

The Company sells Caribou Coffee branded coffee to Peet’s and receives a royalty for all sales by 
Peet’s to its CPG customers of Caribou Coffee branded product as described in Note 1. The 
Company recorded $30.6 million, $27.0 million, and $25.5 million of Peet’s coffee bean sales and 
royalties in franchise and commercial product sales in the consolidated statements of operations 
for the fiscal years ended December 27, 2022, December 28, 2021, and December 29, 2020, 
respectively. As of December 27, 2022 and December 28, 2021, the Company had a receivable 
due from Peet’s of $3.6 million and $2.5 million recorded in trade accounts receivable, net in the 
consolidated balance sheets, respectively.  
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18. Related-Party Transactions 

Coffee Sales to Keurig Green Mountain 

The Company sold $16.4 million, $12.8 million, and $13.9 million of green coffee to KGM during 
the fiscal years ended December 27, 2022, December 28, 2021, and December 29, 2020, 
respectively. The Company received royalties of $8.6 million, $8.7 million, and $8.8 million from 
KGM on sales by KGM of Caribou Coffee branded product during the fiscal years ended 
December 27, 2022, December 28, 2021, and December 29, 2020, respectively. As of December 
27, 2022 and December 28, 2021, the Company had a receivable due from KGM related to the 
coffee sales and royalty of $1.2 million and $1.2 million recorded in trade accounts receivable, net 
in the consolidated balance sheets, respectively.  

Tax Matters Agreement 

The Company files a consolidated tax return with Panera Brands, Inc. and Subsidiaries. The 
Company, Peet's Coffee & Tea, LLC (Peet’s), Krispy Kreme Holdings, Inc. (KKH), Panera Bread 
Co. (Panera), and KK HoldCo Inc. (formerly JAB Beech, Inc.) have agreed to a tax matters 
agreement as described in Note 15.  The long-term amounts due from Peet’s, KKH, Panera and 
KK HoldCo Inc. under the tax matters agreement are $7.1 million and $16.7 million as of 
December 27, 2022 and December 28, 2021, respectively. There were no short-term amounts due 
from related parties under the tax matters agreement at December 27, 2022 or December 28, 2021. 

Shareholder Notes Receivable 

Caribou Coffee Company, Inc. Shareholder Notes 

During the fiscal year ended December 31, 2019, the Company provided loans to certain 
management employees to purchase 39,421 Company shares at an average cost of $56.31 per 
share. The loans mature in three to ten years from the date of issuance and bear no stated interest. 
Concurrent with the inception of the CCOC-EOP and ENRGI-EOP plans during the fiscal year 
ended December 29, 2020, certain outstanding shareholder loans were assigned from the Company 
to CCOC or ENRGI. As of December 28, 2021, $1.8 million of Company shareholder loans were 
outstanding and included in noncontrolling interests subject to put provisions, respectively. These 
shareholder loans were settled during the fiscal year ended December 27, 2022, and there were no 
Caribou Coffee Company, Inc. shareholder loans outstanding at December 27, 2022. 
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18. Related-Party Transactions (continued) 

Shareholder Note Receivable (continued) 

Caribou Coffee Operating Company, Inc. Shareholder Notes 

During the fiscal year ended December 29, 2020 and in addition to the outstanding shareholder 
loans assumed from the Company, CCOC provided loans to certain management employees to 
purchase 29,440 of CCOC shares at a cost of $23.60 per share. During the fiscal year ended 
December 28, 2021, CCOC provided loans to certain management employees to purchase 53,654 
Company shares at an average cost of $24.21 per share. During the fiscal year ended December 
27, 2022, CCOC provided loans to certain management employees to purchase 3,211 Company 
shares at an average cost of $30.43 per share. The loans mature in three to ten years from the date 
of issuance and bear no stated interest. During the fiscal year ended December 27, 2022, $1.3 
million of CCOC shareholder loans were paid in full. As of December 27, 2022 and December 28, 
2021, $1.5 million and $2.7 million of CCOC shareholder loans were outstanding and included in 
noncontrolling interests subject to put provisions, respectively. 

Einstein Noah Restaurant Group, Inc. Shareholder Notes 

During the fiscal year ended December 29, 2020 and in addition to the outstanding shareholder 
loans assumed from the Company, ENRGI provided loans to certain management employees to 
purchase 32,581 of ENRGI shares at a cost of $20.14 per share. During the fiscal year ended 
December 28, 2021, ENRGI provided loans to certain management employees to purchase 94,227 
Company shares at an average cost of $25.60 per share. During the fiscal year ended December 
27, 2022, ENRGI provided loans to certain management employees to purchase 36,895 Company 
shares at an average cost of $34.66 per share. The loans mature in three to ten years from the date 
of issuance and bear no stated interest. As of December 27, 2022 and December 28, 2021, $4.6 
million and $3.4 million of ENRGI shareholder loans were outstanding and included in 
noncontrolling interests subject to put provisions, respectively.  

The Company, CCOC, and ENRGI discounted new shareholder loans to present value and 
recorded a discount of less than $0.1 million, $0.1 million, and less than $0.1 million as stock 
based compensation expense included in general and administrative expense on the consolidated 
statement of operations during each of the fiscal years ended December 27, 2022, December 28, 
2021, and December 29, 2020, respectively. The Company, CCOC, and ENRGI recognized 
interest income of less than $0.1 million, $0.1 million, and $0.1 million related to shareholder 
loans on the consolidated statement of operations during each of the fiscal years ended December 
27, 2022, December 28, 2021, and December 29, 2020, respectively. 
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18. Related-Party Transactions (continued) 

Shareholder Promissory Notes Payable 

During the fiscal year ended December 29, 2020, the Company provided promissory notes payable 
to certain shareholders for the repurchase of 280,388 Company shares at an average cost of $49.24 
per share. The promissory notes payable issued for repurchases transacted during the March 2020 
equity window matured in March 2021 and bore interest at 0.91% per annum. The promissory 
notes payable issued for repurchases transacted during the September 2020 equity window 
matured in September 2021 and bore interest at 0.14% per annum. As of December 29, 2020, $11.6 
million of promissory notes payable to certain shareholders were outstanding and included in 
current portion of long-term debt on the consolidated balance sheets. During March and May 2021, 
the company paid the $11.6 million outstanding balance of shareholder promissory notes. As of 
December 27, 2022 and December 28, 2021, there were no shareholder promissory note 
agreements outstanding. 

Dividend 

No dividends were declared or paid during the fiscal years ended December 27, 2022 and 
December 28, 2021. 

19. Bakery and Coffeehouse Closings, Transfers and Asset Disposals 

Upon closing of a coffeehouse or bagel bakery, the Company accrues for estimated expenses 
associated with the closings.  

Closing and disposal charges for the fiscal years ended December 27, 2022, December 28, 2021, 
and December 29, 2020 consist of the following (in thousands, except coffeehouse and bakery 
numbers):  

Coffeehouse and bagel bakery closures                      17                      33                      39 

Amount charged for closed and
transferring coffeehouses and bagel bakery:

Other closing costs  $                680  $             1,170  $             2,307 
Net loss on sale of closed coffeehouse and 
     bagel bakery property and equipment

                1,100                 1,392                 3,687 

Coffeehouse and bagel bakery closing expense 
     and disposal of assets

 $             1,780  $             2,562  $             5,994 

 December 27, 
2022

December 28, 
2021

December 29, 
2020

Fiscal Year Ended
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19. Bakery and Coffeehouse Closings, Transfers and Asset Disposals (continued) 

Coffeehouse and bagel bakery closing expenses are included in other operating expenses in the 
consolidated statements of operations.  

In accordance with ASU 2016-02, lease termination liabilities of $0.3 million and $0.3 million at 
December 27, 2022 and December 28, 2021, respectively, are included in the balance of the 
Company’s right of use assets.  

20. Commitments and Contingencies  

From time to time, the Company becomes involved in certain legal proceedings in the ordinary 
course of business, including the significant legal proceedings described below. The Company 
believes that it has valid defenses to these legal proceedings and is defending the matters 
vigorously. Nevertheless, the outcome of any litigation is inherently uncertain.  

570 Associates, LLC 

On October 8, 2021, 570 Associates III, LLC commenced an action against Einstein and Noah 
Corp. and Einstein Noah Restaurant Group, Inc. in the Supreme Court for the State of New York, 
Erie County, alleging, among other things, money damages for the Einstein entities’ alleged failure 
to construct a commercial building on the leased space that it rented from 570 Associates, LLC 
and open for business as a fully stocked restaurant no later than October 31, 2015 as required by 
the parties’ lease. 

The parties engaged in substantive motion practice over the next year and agreed to settle the 
dispute for a $1.1 million payment to satisfy any obligation to construct the commercial building. 
The Company accrued this settlement as of December 27, 2022. 

Data Security Incident 

The Company experienced a data security incident that occurred in late 2018.  From approximately 
August 28, 2018 through December 3, 2018, hackers installed malware on point of sale devices in 
certain locations that had the potential, during time periods varying by location, to access payment 
card information of customers when those customers made a purchase.  As part of the data security 
incident, the Company may be subject to monetary assessments pursuant to its contractual 
relationships with its acquiring bank and incorporated card brand rules from Visa, MasterCard, 
American Express, and Discover. The Company has insurance coverage for potential liabilities of 
this nature; however, the coverage may not be sufficient to cover all claims and liabilities.  

The Company, MasterCard, and American Express agreed on a $1.6 million assessment, in 
conjunction with the data security incident, which has been paid as of December 28, 2021.  
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20. Commitments and Contingencies (continued) 

Data Security Incident (continued) 

In December 2020, Visa tendered a preliminary assessment of $6.5 million related to the data 
security incident.  The Company included that liability in accrued expenses and other accrued 
liabilities on the consolidated balance sheet as of December 29, 2020. 

In May 2021, VISA completed its review of the Company’s financial information related to the 
data security incident and determined a global compromised account recovery liability assessment 
could potentially cause catastrophic impact to future operations of the Company. As a result, VISA 
forgave $6.5 million of the remaining assessment under its catastrophic liability waiver program. 
The Company reversed the $6.5 million liability in accrued expenses and other liabilities on the 
consolidated balance sheet during May 2021. 

On June 21, 2019, Village Bank filed a suit in the United States District Court for the District of 
Minnesota claiming damages from the 2018 data security breach.  The Plaintiff sought damages 
on behalf of a nationwide class of banks whose customers used their credit/debit cards at a 
Company store during the data security incident exposure window in 2018. The Company reached 
a $5.8 million settlement in principle at a January 2020 mediation and signed the settlement 
agreement on May 14, 2020. This settlement was funded with two payments: $4.2 million was 
paid by the Company’s insurance carrier during 2020, and the remaining $1.6 million was paid by 
the Company in January 2021. 

Council for Education and Research on Toxics Claim 

On August 7, 2010, the Council for Education and Research on Toxics (CERT), filed an 
enforcement action under California Health and Safety Code section 25249.6 (Proposition 65) 
against a number of companies, including the Company, for not providing “clear and reasonable 
warnings” before allegedly exposing individuals in California to acrylamide in “ready to drink” 
coffee. On May 9, 2011, CERT sued more than 40 companies (joint defense group or JDG) that 
sell beans, grounds, and other “coffee” products in California, for not providing “clear and 
reasonable warnings” before allegedly exposing individuals in California to acrylamide in such 
coffee products. The cases have now been consolidated and are pending in Los Angeles County 
Superior Court. By way of procedural motion, the issues have been bifurcated.  “Phase I” of the 
proceedings litigated the defendants’ three affirmative defenses: infringement of First Amendment 
rights; federal preemption of the state statute; the state statute has a “no significant risk” provision 
that applies to coffee.  The Court ruled, on September 1, 2015, that defendants had not met their 
burden of proof regarding these defenses and, therefore, the cases proceeded to “Phase II” which 
was a trial on plaintiffs’ claims. The Court ruled, on March 29, 2018, that defendants had not met 
their burden to establish that the acrylamide levels in coffee are not subject to the application of 
Proposition 65 and set the damages phase of the trial, “Phase III”, for October 15, 2018.  
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20. Commitments and Contingencies (continued)

Council for Education and Research on Toxics Claim (continued) 

On Friday, June 15, 2018, the Office of Environmental Health Hazard Assessment (OEHHA), the 
agency tasked with implementation of Proposition 65, announced a proposed amendment to its 
regulations exempting all chemicals formed as a result of roasting coffee beans or brewing coffee 
from the statute’s warning requirement. The “Phase III” trial was set for October 15, 2018; 
however, on October 12, 2018, the California Court of Appeal granted the defendants request for 
a stay of the trial. The court granted the JDG’s motion for summary judgment on August 25, 2020 
and entered judgment on October 1, 2020; the JDG prevailed on its motion for summary judgment 
ending this stage of the litigation. CERT filed its Notice of Appeal on November 20, 2020 in the 
California Court of Appeals.  The California Court of Appeals issued its decision in the CERT 
matter on October 26, 2022 in favor of the JDG on the merits as well as denying an award of 
CERT’s attorneys’ fees. CERT then filed its Petition for Review in the California Supreme Court 
on December 2, 2022, which was denied on February 15, 2023. The California Supreme Court will 
now issue a remittitur to the Court of Appeal, which in turn will issue a remittitur to the trial court 
to affirm the judgment in the joint defense group’s favor plus costs (excluding expert witness fees). 

Davis Claims 

In July 2018, Trina Davis filed a Private Attorneys General Act (PAGA) lawsuit in Sacramento 
County Superior Court against ENRGI alleging wage and break violations.  Although filed as a 
PAGA-only claim, Davis sought damages on behalf of herself and other employees.  ENRGI 
prevailed on a motion to compel arbitration based on Davis’ employment arbitration agreement, 
but the Court provided her with an option to avoid arbitration by amending her complaint to seek 
PAGA-only relief without wage claims.  Davis amended her complaint, and ENRGI filed a notice 
of appeal challenging the Court’s allowance of the amended complaint.   

In February 2019, Trina Davis filed a purported nationwide class action against ENRGI and the 
Company in the United States District Court for the Northern District of California.  Plaintiff 
alleged violations of the Fair Credit Reporting Act, the California Investigative Consumer 
Reporting Agencies Act, the California Consumer Credit Reporting Agencies Act and the 
California Unfair Competition Law, based on the language in ENRGI’s background check 
disclosure form.  ENRGI moved to compel arbitration in accordance with Plaintiff’s written 
agreement to arbitrate and the Court ordered Plaintiff to arbitrate her individual claims.  

The parties reached a settlement agreement of $1.5 million, covering both of Trina Davis’s claims, 
at the February 21, 2020 mediation and paid this amount during the fiscal year ended December 
28, 2021. 

Bruegger's - 2023 FDD (329)



Caribou Coffee Company, Inc. and Subsidiaries 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 

As of December 27, 2022 and December 28, 2021; and for the 
Fiscal Years Ended December 27, 2022, December 28, 2021, and December 29, 2020 

63 

21. Supplemental Cash Flow Information

The following table sets forth supplemental cash flow information for the periods indicated: 

(in thousands)
December 27,

2022
December 28,

2021
December 29,

2020
Interest  $  16,662  $  16,421  $  18,525 
Income taxes  3,412  1,077  450 

Non-cash investing and financing activities
Change in accrued property and equipment 
purchases

 $  797  $  807  $  (1,652)

Fiscal Year Ended

22. Subsequent Events

The Company has evaluated subsequent events through March , 2023, the date that 
the consolidated financial statements were available to be issued, noting there were none 
requiring disclosure. 
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